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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-Q and other written or oral statements made by or on behalf of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (“Piedmont”)
may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. In addition, Piedmont, or the executive officers on Piedmont’s
behalf, may from time to time make forward-looking statements in reports and other documents Piedmont files with the Securities and Exchange Commission
or in connection with oral statements made to the press, potential investors, or others. Statements regarding future events and developments and Piedmont’s
future performance, as well as management’s expectations, beliefs, plans, estimates, or projections relating to the future, are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of these laws. Forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by, or that include the words “may,” “will,”
“expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” or other similar words. Examples of such statements in this report include descriptions of
our real estate, financing, and operating objectives; descriptions of our share redemption program and our ability to purchase additional shares under such
program; discussions regarding future distributions; and discussions regarding the potential impact of economic conditions on our portfolio.
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These statements are based on beliefs and assumptions of Piedmont’s management, which in turn are based on currently available information. Important
assumptions relating to the forward-looking statements include, among others, assumptions regarding the demand for office space in the sectors in which
Piedmont operates, competitive conditions, and general economic conditions. These assumptions could prove inaccurate. The forward-looking statements
also involve risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Many of
these factors are beyond Piedmont’s ability to control or predict. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

. Lease terminations or lease defaults, particularly by one of Piedmont’s large lead tenants;

. The impact of competition on Piedmont’s efforts to renew existing leases or re-let space on terms similar to existing leases;

. Changes in the economies and other conditions of the office market in general and of the specific markets in which Piedmont operates,
particularly in Chicago, Washington, D.C., and the New York metropolitan area;

. Economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market generally;

. Potential development and construction delays and resultant increased costs and risks;

. The success of Piedmont’s real estate strategies and investment objectives;

. Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations;

. Uncertainties associated with environmental and other regulatory matters;

. Piedmont’s ability to continue to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; and

. Other factors, including the risk factors discussed under Item 1.A of Piedmont’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007.

Management believes these forward-looking statements are reasonable; however, undue reliance should not be placed on any forward-looking statements,
which are based on current expectations. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and management undertakes no
obligation to update publicly any of them in light of new information or future events.

3



Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The information furnished in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows reflects all adjustments, that are, in management’s opinion, necessary for a fair and consistent presentation of financial position, results of operations,
and cash flows in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to Piedmont’s financial statements and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this report on Form 10-Q and with Piedmont’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2007. Piedmont’s results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 are not necessarily indicative of the operating
results expected for the full year.
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
March 31, December 31,
2008 2007
Assets:
Real estate assets, at cost:
Land $ 645,881 $ 6453881
Buildings and improvements, less accumulated depreciation of $491,784 and $468,359 as of March 31, 2008 and
December 31,2007, respectively 3,044,728 3,066,494
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of $161,214 and $160,837 as of March 31, 2008 and
December 31,2007, respectively 160,885 172,425
Construction in progress 39,562 38,014
Total real estate assets 3,891,056 3,922,814
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures 51,862 52,468
Cash and cash equivalents 56,665 65,016
Tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $482 and $549 as of March 31, 2008 and December 31,

2007, respectively 120,177 122,130
Notes receivable 46,417 854
Due from unconsolidated joint ventures 1,216 1,244
Prepaid expenses and other assets 18,032 21,864
Goodwill 180,390 180,371
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of $4,658 and $4,224 as of March 31, 2008 and December 31,

2007, respectively 9,680 10,075
Deferred lease costs, less accumulated amortization of $99,536 and $95,229 as of March 31, 2008 and December 31,

2007, respectively 204,456 202,910

Total assets $4,579,951  $4,579,746
Liabilities:
Line of credit and notes payable $1,399,869 $1,301,530
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures 89,975 110,548
Deferred income 31,657 28,882
Intangible lease liabilities, less accumulated amortization of $55,105 and $52,100 as of March 31, 2008 and
December 31,2007, respectively 81,852 84,886
Total liabilities 1,603,353 1,525,846
Commitments and Contingencies — —
Minority Interest 6,612 6,546
Redeemable Common Stock 121,022 166,909
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; 900,000,000 shares authorized; 483,422,193 shares issued and outstanding at March 31,

2008; and 488,974,478 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 4,834 4,890
Additional paid-in capital 3,524,789 3,568,801
Cumulative distributions in excess of earnings (559,637) (526,337)
Redeemable common stock (121,022) (166,909)

Total stockholders’ equity 2,848,964 2,880,445
Total liabilities, minority interest, redeemable common stock, and stockholders’ equity $4,579,951 $4,579,746

See accompanying notes.
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

Revenues:
Rental income
Tenant reimbursements
Property management fee revenue
Other rental income

Expenses:

Property operating costs

Asset and property management fees:
Related party
Other

Depreciation

Amortization

General and administrative

Real estate operating income
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Loss on extinguishment of debt

Income from continuing operations before minority interest
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Operating income

Gain on sale of real estate assets

Income from discontinued operations
Net income
Per share information — basic:

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

Net income available to common stockholders

Per share information — diluted:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

Net income available to common stockholders
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic

Weighted-average common shares outstanding — diluted

See accompanying notes.
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(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2008 2007
$ 114,409 $ 111,678
39,156 36,011
753 —
4,775 529
159,093 148,218
57,290 52,263
— 7,018
501 2,438
24,069 23,400
16,533 17,207
7,147 3,893
105,540 106,219
53,553 41,999
(17,305) (16,029)
658 2,088
611 794
— (61)
(16,036) (13,208)
37,517 28,791
(165) (180)
37,352 28,611
9 863
— 20,653
9 21,516
$ 37,361 $ 50,127
$ 0.08 $ 0.06
$ 0.00 $ 0.05
S 0.08 $ 0.11
$ 0.08 $ 0.06
$ 0.00 $ 0.05
$ 0.08 $ 0.11
485,897,575 466,256,255
486,256,371 466,256,255
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2007
AND FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008 (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Common Stock Cumulative
Additional Distributions Redeemable Total
Paid-In in Excess Common Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital of Earnings Stock Equity
Balance, December 31,2006 465880 $4,659 $3,358,933 $(376,766) $(136,129) $2,850,697
Issuance of common stock 37,152 371 310,965 — — 311,336
Redemptions of common stock (14,237) (142) (119,165) — — (119,307)
Redeemable common stock — — — — (30,780) (30,780)
Dividends ($0.5868 per share) — — — (283,181) — (283,181)
Premium on stock sales — — 14,728 — — 14,728
Shares issued under the 2007 Omnibus
Incentive Plan, net of tax 179 2 3,375 — — 3,377
Other offering costs — — (35) — — (35)
Net income — — — 133,610 — 133,610
Balance, December 31,2007 488,974 4,890 3,568,801 (526,337) (166,909) 2,880,445
Issuance of common stock 4273 42 35,761 — — 35,803
Redemptions of common stock 9,825) 98) (82,233) — — (82,331)
Redeemable common stock — — — — 45,887 45,887
Dividends ($0.1467 per share) — — — (70,661) — (70,661)
Premium on stock sales — — 1,721 — — 1,721
Shares issued under the 2007 Omnibus
Incentive Plan, net of tax — — 739 — — 739
Net income — — — 37,361 — 37,361
Balance, March 31,2008 483,422 $4,834  $3,524,789  $(559,637) $(121,022) $2,848,964

See accompanying notes.
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income
Operating distributions received from unconsolidated joint ventures
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Other amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs and fair market value adjustments on notes payable
Accretion of note receivable discount
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Stock-based compensation expense
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities
Gain on sale of real estate assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in tenant receivables, net
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures

Decrease in due to affiliates
Increase in deferred income

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Investment in real estate and earnest money paid
Investment in internalization costs — goodwill
Investment in mezzanine debt
Net sale proceeds from wholly owned properties
Net sale proceeds received from unconsolidated joint ventures
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
Deferred lease costs paid
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Deferred financing costs paid
Proceeds from lines of credit and notes payable
Repayments of lines of credit and notes payable
Prepayment penalty on extinguishment of debt
Issuance of common stock
Redemptions of common stock
Dividends paid
Other offering costs paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

See accompanying notes.
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(Unaudited)
Three months ended
March 31,
2008 2007

$ 37,361 $ 50,127
1,244 1,230
24,069 23,707
16,590 17,165
282 297

37 —

= 61

739 —
611) (794)
165 180
— (20,653)
1,727 (6,083)
1,777) (1,857)
(6,569) 1,772
— (167)
2,775 4,665
75,958 69,650
(6,718) (6,963)

19) —

@5,621) —
— 75,299

— 173
— (284)
(8,963) 6,327)
61,321) 61,898
(38) 6)
165,000 67,000
(66,509) (102,513)
— (1,617)
36,422 37,339
87,102) (52,478)
(70,761) (68,344)
— ®
(22,988) (120,624)
8,351) 10,924
65,016 44,131
$ 56,665 $ 55,055
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31,2008
(unaudited)

1. Organization

Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (“Piedmont”) is a Maryland corporation that operates in a manner so as to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”)
for federal income tax purposes and engages in the acquisition and ownership of commercial real estate properties throughout the United States, including
properties that are under construction, are newly constructed, or have operating histories. Piedmont was incorporated in 1997 and commenced operations on
June 5, 1998. Piedmont conducts business primarily through Piedmont Operating Partnership, LP (“Piedmont OP”), a Delaware limited partnership. Piedmont
is the sole general partner and possesses full legal control and authority over the operations of Piedmont OP. Piedmont OP owns properties directly, through
wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with real estate limited partnerships sponsored by its former advisor, and through certain joint
ventures with other third parties. References to Piedmont herein shall include Piedmont and all of its subsidiaries, including Piedmont OP, its subsidiaries,
and consolidated joint ventures.

As of March 31,2008, Piedmont owned interests in 83 buildings, either directly or through joint ventures, comprising approximately 21.3 million square feet
of commercial office and industrial space, located in 23 states and the District of Columbia. As of March 31, 2008, these buildings were approximately 94%
leased.

Since its inception, Piedmont has completed four public offerings of common stock for sale at $10 per share. Combined with Piedmont’s dividend
reinvestment plan (the “DRP”), such offerings have provided approximately $5.6 billion in total offering proceeds. From these proceeds, Piedmont has paid
costs related to the offerings of (1) approximately $171.1 million in acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursements of acquisition expenses;
(2) approximately $461.3 million in commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees; and (3) approximately $62.7 million in organization and
other offering costs. In addition, Piedmont has used approximately $776.3 million to redeem shares pursuant to Piedmont’s share redemption program and to
repurchase shares as a result of a legal settlement in one instance. The remaining net offering proceeds of approximately $4.1 billion are invested in real
estate. Piedmont’s fourth public offering closed on July 25,2004.

Piedmont registered an additional 100 million shares of common stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for issuance pursuant to its
DRP under a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Commission File No. 333-114212), which became effective on April 5, 2004. Additionally, Piedmont
registered 14.0 million shares of common stock with the SEC for issuance under its 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan under a Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Commission File No. 333-142448), which became effective on April 30,2007.

Piedmont’s stock is not listed on a national exchange. Piedmont’s charter requires Piedmont to begin the process of liquidating its investments and
distributing the resulting proceeds to the stockholders if its common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or over-the-counter market by
July 30, 2009 (the “Liquidation Date”). The board of directors may, in its sole discretion, further extend the Liquidation Date from July 30, 2009 to
January 30,2011.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of Piedmont have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, including the instructions to
Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, and do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the statements for the unaudited interim periods presented include all
adjustments, which are of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for such periods. Results for these interim periods are
not necessarily indicative of a full year’s results. Piedmont’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Piedmont, Piedmont OP, and certain
entities in which Piedmont or Piedmont OP has a controlling financial interest. For further information, refer to the financial statements and footnotes
included in Piedmont’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2007.
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Redeemable Common Stock

Subject to certain limitations, shares of Piedmont’s common stock are contingently redeemable at the option of the stockholder. Such limitations include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) Piedmont may not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted-average common shares outstanding during the prior calendar
year during any calendar year; and (ii) in no event shall the aggregate amount paid for redemptions under the Piedmont share redemption program exceed the
aggregate amount of proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to the DRP. Accordingly, Piedmont has recorded redeemable common stock equal to

the aggregate amount of proceeds received under the DRP, less the aggregate amount incurred to redeem shares under Piedmont’s share redemption program
0f$121.0 million and $166.9 million as of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Further, upon being tendered for redemption by the holder,

Piedmont reclassifies redeemable common shares from mezzanine equity to a liability at settlement value. As of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
respectively, approximately $0.1 million and $6.0 million of shares tendered for redemption have not been redeemed, and are, therefore, included in accounts
payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

Piedmont has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and has operated as such, beginning with its
taxable year ended December 31, 1998. To qualify as a REIT, Piedmont must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a
requirement to distribute at least 90% of its annual REIT taxable income. As a REIT, Piedmont is generally not subject to federal income taxes. Accordingly,
neither a provision nor a benefit for federal income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Piedmont is subject to
certain state and local taxes related to the operations of properties in certain locations, which has been provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Investment in Mezzanine Debt

FIN 46R, a modification of FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, clarified the methodology for determining whether an entity is a Variable
Interest Entity (“VIE”) and the methodology for assessing who is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do
not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support from other parties. If an entity is determined to be a VIE, it must be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary
beneficiary is the enterprise that absorbs the majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both.
Generally, expected losses and expected residual returns are the expected negative and positive variability, respectively, in the fair value of the VIE’s net
assets.

When Piedmont makes an investment, it assesses whether it has a variable interest in a VIE and, if so, whether it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. These
analyses require considerable judgment in determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective probability weighting of various cash
flow scenarios. Incorrect assumptions or estimates of future cash flows may result in an inaccurate determination of the primary beneficiary. The result could
be the consolidation of an entity acquired or formed in the future that would otherwise not have been consolidated or the nonconsolidation of such an entity
that would otherwise have been consolidated.

Piedmont has evaluated its investment in mezzanine debt to determine whether it has variable interests in a VIE. For this investment, Piedmont has evaluated
the sufficiency of the entities’ equity investment at risk to absorb expected losses, and whether as a group, the equity has the characteristics of a controlling
financial interest.

Piedmont’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investment in mezzanine debt is $45.7 million as of March 31,2008.

Piedmont has determined that its investment in mezzanine debt is a VIE and Piedmont is the primary beneficiary. However, Piedmont has determined that the
special-purpose entity that holds the debt (“the Borrowing Entity”) is not the primary beneficiary of the other VIEs in the overall property debt structure. The
primary effect of these determinations is
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that Piedmont consolidates the Borrowing Entity (i.e, reflects the note receivable, discount on note receivable, interest income, and amortization of the
discount on note receivable related to this investment in its consolidated financial statements) but does not consolidate the assets, liabilities, or operations of
the other VIEs in the overall property debt structure.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an amendment to FASB Statement
No. 133 (“SFAS 161”). SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities, improving the transparency of financial
reporting. The enhanced disclosures include descriptions of how and why the entity uses derivative instruments, how such instruments are accounted for
under FASB Statement No. 133, and how derivative instruments affect the entity’s financial position, operations, and cash flows. SFAS 161 will be effective
for Piedmont beginning January 1, 2009, with early adoption encouraged. Piedmont will continue to assess the provisions and evaluate the impact of SFAS
161 on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position No. SFAS 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157 (“FSP 157-2). FSP 157-2 delays the effective
date of SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), for all nonrecurring, nonfinancial assets and liabilities until fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008. Accordingly, FSP 157-2 will be effective for Piedmont beginning January 1, 2009. Piedmont will continue to assess the provisions and
evaluate the financial statement impact of SFAS 157-2 on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 requires that
noncontrolling interests should be reported as an element of consolidated equity, thus eliminating the practice of classifying minority interests within a
mezzanine section of the balance sheet. SFAS 160 also requires that net income encompass the total income of all consolidated subsidiaries with an
additional separate disclosure on the face of the income statement of the attribution of that income between the controlling and noncontrolling interests. All
increases and decreases in the noncontrolling ownership interest amount will be accounted for as equity transactions. SFAS 160 will be effective for
Piedmont beginning January 1, 2009. Piedmont will continue to assess the provisions and evaluate the financial statement impact of SFAS 160 on its
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations (“SFAS 141”). SFAS 141 requires, among other things, that transaction costs
incurred in business combinations be expensed as incurred by the acquirer. Preacquisition contingencies, such as environmental or legal issues, as well as
contingent consideration, will generally be accounted for in purchase accounting at fair value. SFAS 141 is effective January 1,2009. Piedmont will continue
to assess the provisions and evaluate the financial statement impact of SFAS 141 on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2007, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) issued Statement of Position (“SOP”) 07-1, Clarification of the Scope of the
Audit and Accounting Guide “Investment Companies” and Accounting by Parent Companies and Equity Method Investors for Investments in Investment
Companies, which provides guidance for determining which entities fall within the scope of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide for Investment
Companies and requires additional disclosures for certain of those entities. The effective date of SOP 07-1 has been deferred indefinitely by the FASB.
Piedmont will continue to assess the provisions and evaluate the financial statement impact of SOP 07-1 on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Investment in Mezzanine Debt

On March 19, 2008, Piedmont invested $45.6 million in subordinated or mezzanine debt of an entity which is generally secured by a pledge of the equity
interest of the entity owning a 46-story, Class A, commercial office building located in downtown Chicago. Piedmont’s interest is subordinate to the
mortgage loan secured by the office building as well as subordinate to the interests of two other mezzanine lenders. The note matures on August 9,2009 (with
3 one-year extension options exercisable at the borrower’s discretion) and bears interest at a floating rate of LIBOR plus 1.61%. The
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purchase of the mezzanine debt resulted in a discount which will be amortized to interest income over the life of the loan using the straight-line method,
which materially approximates the effective interest method. Such income, in addition to interest income received through borrower loan repayments, is
recognized as interest income in the consolidated financial statements.

4. Dispositions of Real Estate Assets
Discontinued Operations

The results of operations for the Citigroup Fort Mill Building (sold in March 2007) and the Videojet Technology Building (sold in March 2007) are
classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The details comprising income from discontinued operations
are provided below (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2008 2007
Revenues:
Rental income $ 9 $ 1,260
Tenant reimbursements — (191)
Gain on sale — 20,653
9 21,722
Expenses:
Property operating costs — (168)
Depreciation — 311
Amortization — 41
General and administrative — 22
— 206
Income from discontinued operations $ 9 $ 21,516
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5. Line of Credit and Notes Payable

As of March 31,2008 and December 31,2007, Piedmont had a line of credit and notes payable outstanding as follows (in thousands):

Fixed-rate (F)

Amount Outstanding as of

or Variable Term Debt or March 31, December 31,
Facility rate (V) Rate Interest Only Maturity 2008 2007
Secured Pooled Facility F 4.84% Interest Only 6/14/2014 $ 350,000 $ 350,000
Aon Center Chicago Mortgage Note F 4.87% Interest Only 5/1/2014 200,000 200,000
F 5.70% Interest Only 5/1/2014 25,000 25,000
$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan E 5.50% Interest Only 4/1/2016 125,000 125,000
35 W. Wacker Building Mortgage Note F 5.10% Interest Only 1/1/2014 120,000 120,000
WDC Mortgage Notes F 5.76% Interest Only 11/1/2017 140,000 140,000
$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan F 5.29% Interest Only 5/11/2015 105,000 105,000
$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan E 5.20% Interest Only 6/1/2012 45,000 45,000
$42.5 Million Fixed-Rate Loan F 5.70% Interest Only 10/11/2016 42,525 42,525
3100 Clarendon Boulevard Building Mortgage Note F 6.40% Interest Only 8/25/2008 33,744 33,896
One Brattle Square Building
Mortgage Note F 8.50% Term Debt 3/11/2028 — 26,109
$500 Million Unsecured Facility 2.70% 8/31/2011
V  LIBOR+.475%  Interest Only 213,600 89,000
Total indebtedness $1,399,869 $ 1,301,530

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, Piedmont’s net borrowings under its $500 Million Unsecured Facility totaled approximately $124.6 million.
Piedmont made interest payments of approximately $16.3 million and $16.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Piedmont had no capitalized interest for the three months ended March 31,2008 or 2007.

On March 11, 2008, Piedmont repaid the entire outstanding principal balance on the One Brattle Square Building Mortgage Note of approximately $26.0
million. The One Brattle Square Building Mortgage Note was repaid with a draw from Piedmont’s $500 Million Unsecured Facility and cash on hand.

6. Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities

Outlined below are significant noncash investing and financing activities for the three months ended March 31,2008 and 2007 (in thousands):

Accrued redemptions of common stock paid

Accrued capital expenditures and deferred lease costs
Discounts applied to issuance of common stock

Discounts reduced as a result of redemptions of common stock

Redeemable common stock
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7. Related-Party Transactions

For the period from January 1, 2007 through April 16,2007, Piedmont incurred expenses under the following agreements with Piedmont’s former advisor and
its affiliates. On April, 16, 2007, Piedmont closed the transaction to internalize the functions of its former external advisor companies and became a self-
managed entity (the “Internalization”). Such agreements were terminated as part of the Internalization. The expenses incurred under the agreements for the
period are described below (in thousands):

Agreements with Former Advisor Companies Prior to Internalization

Expenses
Incurred for the
Three Months
Ended March 31,
Agreement Services Provided 2007
Asset Advisory Agreement Manage day-to-day operations; administer, promote, operate, $ 5,994
maintain, improve, finance, lease, dispose of properties;
provide accounting, compliance, other administrative
services
Property Management Agreement Manage properties; coordinate leasing of properties; manage $ 1,025
construction activities at certain properties
Administrative reimbursements Piedmont was required to reimburse each service provider for $ 2,414 @
(pursuant to agreements listed above) various expenses incurred in connection with the

performance of'its duties

O] Includes approximately $450,000 which was reimbursed by tenants pursuant to the respective lease agreements.
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Agreements with Former Advisor Companies Post Internalization

During the three months ended March 31,2008, Piedmont incurred expenses under the following agreements with Piedmont’s former advisor and its affiliates

(in thousands):

Agreement

Property Management
Services—Piedmont-
Owned Properties
Managed by

Former Advisor

Property Management
Services—Properties

Owned by Real Estate Programs
Sponsored by Former

Advisor Managed

by Piedmont

Transition Services
Agreement

Headquarters
Sublease Agreement

Support Services
Agreement

Services Provided

Fees Incurred /
(Revenues Earned)
For the Three
Months Ended
March 31, 2008

Termination Date

Renewal Options

Manage day-to-day
operations and  provide
property accounting services
for 17 properties

Manage day-to-day
operations and  provide
property accounting services

for 22 properties

Investor relations

support  services; transfer
agent-related services;
investor communication
support

Approximately 13,000

square feet in the office
building located at 6200 The
Corners Parkway, Norcross,
Ga., along with furniture,
fixtures, and equipment

Information
services

technology

$0.1 million

$(0.7) million

$0.6 million

$0.1 million

$0.2 million

2009
option

April 1,
(Termination
upon 60 days’ notice)

April 16, 2009
(Termination option upon 60
days’ notice)

July 15,2008

July 1,2008®

July 1,2008®

(1) On April 18,2008, Piedmont issued a partial termination notice related to 6 of the 17 properties, effective June 30,2008.

Automatically renews
unless either party gives
notice of intent not to renew

Automatically renews
unless either party gives
notice of intent not to renew

Automatically renews for
successive 180-day
periods unless otherwise
terminated upon 30 days’
written notice

@) Notification of termination was issued for such agreements effective April 1, 2008. Such termination will result in expense to Piedmont of
approximately $128,000 on the anticipated effective date of termination of the Headquarters Sublease Agreement, which is anticipated to be July 1,

2008.
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8. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments Under Existing Lease Agreements

Certain lease agreements include provisions that, at the option of the tenant, may obligate Piedmont to provide funding for capital improvements. Under
existing lease agreements, Leo Burnett and Winston & Strawn, LLP, the principal tenants at the 35 W. Wacker Building, are entitled to additional landlord-
funded tenant improvements, leasing commissions, and building improvements, totaling approximately $52.5 million as of March 31,2008.

Assertion of Legal Action

In Re Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 1:07-cv-00862-CAP (Upon motions to dismiss filed by defendants, parts
of all seven counts were dismissed by the court. Counts III through VII were dismissed in their entirety.)

On March 12, 2007, a stockholder filed a purported class action and derivative complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland
against, among others, Piedmont, Piedmont’s previous advisors, and the officers and directors of Piedmont prior to the closing of the Internalization. The
complaint attempts to assert class action claims on behalf of those persons who received and were entitled to vote on the proxy statement filed with the SEC
on February 26,2007.

The complaint alleges, among other things, (i) that the consideration to be paid as part of the Internalization is excessive; (ii) violations of Section 14(a),
including Rule 14a-9 thereunder, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, based upon allegations that the proxy statement contains false and misleading
statements or omits to state material facts; (iii) that the board of directors and the current and previous advisors breached their fiduciary duties to the class and
to Piedmont; and (iv) that the proposed Internalization will unjustly enrich certain directors and officers of Piedmont.

The complaint seeks, among other things, (i) certification of the class action; (ii) a judgment declaring the proxy statement false and misleading;
(iii) unspecified monetary damages; (iv) to nullify any stockholder approvals obtained during the proxy process; (v) to nullify the merger proposal and the
merger agreement; (vi) restitution for disgorgement of profits, benefits, and other compensation for wrongful conduct and fiduciary breaches; (vii) the
nomination and election of new independent directors, and the retention of a new financial advisor to assess the advisability of Piedmont’s strategic
alternatives; and (viii) the payment of reasonable attoreys’ fees and experts’ fees.

On June 27,2007, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint, which contains the same counts as the original complaint, described above, with amended factual
allegations based primarily on events occurring subsequent to the original complaint and the addition of a Piedmont officer as an individual defendant.

On March 31, 2008, the court granted in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended complaint. The court dismissed five of the seven counts of the
amended complaint in their entirety. The court dismissed the remaining two counts with the exception of allegations regarding the failure to disclose in
Piedmont’s proxy statement details of certain expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont. On April 21, 2008, the plaintiff filed a second amended
complaint, which alleges violations of the federal proxy rules based upon allegations that the proxy statement to obtain approval for Internalization omitted
details of certain expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont. The second amended complaint seeks, among other things, unspecified monetary damages, to
nullify and rescind Internalization, and to cancel and rescind any stock issued to the defendants as consideration for Internalization. On May 12, 2008, the
defendants answered the second amended complaint.

Piedmont believes that the allegations contained in the complaint are without merit and will continue to vigorously defend this action. Due to the
uncertainties inherent in the litigation process, it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of this matter at this time; however, as with any litigation,
the risk of financial loss does exist.

In Re Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 1:07-cv-02660-CAP (complaint filed - time for defendants to respond has not
passed)
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On October 25,2007, the same stockholder mentioned above filed a second purported class action in the United States District Court for the Northern District
of Georgia against Piedmont and its board of directors. The complaint attempts to assert class action claims on behalf of (i) those persons who were entitled to
tender their shares pursuant to the tender offer filed with the SEC by Lex-Win Acquisition LLC on May 25,2007, and (ii) all persons who are entitled to vote
on the proxy statement filed with the SEC on October 16,2007.

The complaint alleges, among other things, violations of the federal securities laws, including Sections 14(a) and 14(e) of the Exchange Act and Rules 14a-9
and 14e-2(b) promulgated thereunder. In addition, the complaint alleges that defendants have also breached their fiduciary duties owed to the proposed
classes.

On December 26, 2007, the plaintiff filed a motion seeking that the court designate it as lead plaintiff and its counsel as class lead counsel, which the court
granted on May 2, 2008.

As of the date of this filing, the time for responding to the complaint has not yet passed. Piedmont believes that the allegations contained in the complaint are
without merit and will continue to vigorously defend this action. Due to the uncertainties inherent in the litigation process, it is not possible to predict the
ultimate outcome of this matter at this time; however, as with any litigation, the risk of financial loss does exist.

Donald and Donna Goldstein, Derivatively on behalf of Nominal Defendant Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. v. Leo F. Wells, 1II, et al. (motion to dismiss
granted - plaintiffs filed a notice to appeal)

On August 24, 2007, two stockholders of Piedmont filed a putative shareholder derivative complaint in the Superior Court of Fulton County, State of
Georgia, on behalf of Piedmont against, among others, one of Piedmont’s previous advisors, and a number of Piedmont’s current and former officers and
directors.

The complaint alleges, among other things, (i) that the consideration paid as part of the Internalization of Piedmont’s previous advisors was excessive;
(ii) that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Piedmont; and (iii) that the Internalization transaction unjustly enriched the defendants.

The complaint seeks, among other things, (i) a judgment declaring that the defendants have committed breaches of their fiduciary duties and were unjustly
enriched at the expense of Piedmont; (ii) monetary damages equal to the amount by which Piedmont has been damaged by the defendants; (iii) an order
awarding Piedmont restitution from the defendants and ordering disgorgement of all profits and benefits obtained by the defendants from their wrongful
conduct and fiduciary breaches; (iv) an order directing the defendants to respond in good faith to offers which are in the best interest of Piedmont and its
stockholders and to establish a committee of independent directors or an independent third party to evaluate strategic alternatives and potential offers for
Piedmont, and to take steps to maximize Piedmont’s and the stockholders’ value; (v) an order directing the defendants to disclose all material information to
Piedmont’s stockholders with respect to the Internalization transaction and all offers to purchase Piedmont and to adopt and implement a procedure or
process to obtain the highest possible price for the stockholders; (vi) an order rescinding, to the extent already implemented, the Internalization transaction;
(vii) the establishment of a constructive trust upon any benefits improperly received by the defendants as a result of their wrongful conduct; and (viii) an
award to the plaintiffs of costs and disbursements of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees.

On March 13, 2008, the court granted the motion to dismiss this complaint. However, on April 11, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a notice to appeal the court’s
judgment granting the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Other Legal Matters

Piedmont is from time to time a party to other legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of its business. None of these ordinary course legal
proceedings are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on results of operations or financial condition.
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9. Stock-Based Compensation
Deferred Stock Award Grant - May 2007

On May 18,2007, pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, Piedmont granted approximately 764,850 shares of common stock as deferred stock awards
to its employees, of which 19,988 shares were surrendered immediately to satisfy required minimum tax withholding obligations. Of the net shares granted,
171,227 shares (or 25%) vested immediately and the remaining shares, adjusted for any forfeitures, vest ratably over three years. Piedmont estimated the fair
value of the awards on the date of grant based on an assumed share price of $10.00 per share reduced by the present value of dividends expected to be paid on
the unvested portion of the shares discounted at the appropriate risk-free interest rate. As of March 31,2008, 557,697 shares remained unvested.

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, Piedmont recognized approximately $0.7 million of compensation expense, all of which related to the
nonvested shares. As of March 31, 2008, approximately $1.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation
remained, which Piedmont will record in its statements of income over the vesting period.

10. Weighted-Average Common Shares

There are no adjustments to “Net income” or “Income from continuing operations” for the diluted earnings per share computations.

The following table reconciles the denominator for the basic and diluted earnings per share computations shown on the consolidated statements of income
(in thousands):

Three Months

Ended
March 31, 2008
Weighted-average common shares — basic 485,898
Plus incremental weighted-average shares from time-vested conversions:
Restricted stock awards 358
Weighted-average common shares — diluted 486,256

11. Subsequent Events
Deferred Stock Award Grant - April 2008

On April 21, 2008, pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, Piedmont granted approximately 452,000 shares of common stock as deferred stock awards
to its employees in recognition of individual and company performance for the period from April 16, 2007 to December 31, 2007. Of the 452,000 shares
granted, 25% vest immediately and the remaining shares, adjusted for any forfeitures, will vest ratably over the next three years. Employees are able to forfeit
a portion of their vested shares in lieu of paying applicable payroll tax withholding on the vested portion of shares granted.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of
Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (“Piedmont”). See also “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” preceding Part I, as well as the notes to
our consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2008, Piedmont had outstanding borrowings of approximately $213.6 million on the $500 Million Unsecured Facility. Along with
outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $5.4 million, we had $281.0 million available for future borrowing. We are also exploring other
unsecured debt vehicles to give us further access to additional capital.

We intend to use cash flows generated from operation of our properties, proceeds from our dividend reinvestment plan, and proceeds from our $500 Million
Unsecured Facility, as our primary sources of immediate and long-term liquidity. In addition, we expect distributions from our existing unconsolidated joint
ventures and other financing opportunities, such as additional unsecured facilities afforded to us by our relatively low leverage and quality asset base, to
provide additional sources of funds.

We anticipate that our primary future capital requirements will include, but not be limited to, making scheduled debt service payments, including the
repayment of approximately $33.7 million related to the 3100 Clarendon Boulevard Building Mortgage Note in August 2008, funding renovations,
expansions, and other significant capital improvements for our existing portfolio of properties. Over the next few years, we anticipate funding significant
capital expenditures for the properties currently in our portfolio. These expenditures include specifically identified building improvement projects
(including amounts set forth in the Contractual Commitments and Contingencies table below), as well as projected amounts for tenant improvements and
leasing commissions related to projected re-leasing, which are subject to change as market and tenant conditions dictate. In addition, we currently expect to
use a substantial portion of our future net cash flows generated from operations to pay dividends and fund share redemption requests pursuant to our share
redemption program. We anticipate that the pool of shares eligible for redemption in 2008 (other than those reserved for death and required minimum
distribution requests) will be exhausted by the middle of the calendar year; however, we will continue to redeem shares related to death and required
minimum distribution requests throughout the remainder of the year.

The amount of future dividends to be paid to our stockholders will continue to be largely dependent upon (i) the amount of cash generated from our
operating activities, (ii) our expectations of future cash flows, and (iii) our determination of near-term cash needs for acquisitions of new properties, debt
repayments, existing or future share redemptions or repurchases, and (iv) the timing of significant re-leasing activity and the establishment of additional cash
reserves for anticipated tenant improvements and general property capital improvements.

Our cash flows from operations depend significantly on market rents and the ability of our tenants to make rental payments. While we believe the diversity
and high credit quality of our tenants helps mitigate the risk of a significant interruption of our cash flows from operations, a general economic downturn,
such as the one we are currently experiencing, or a downturn in one of our core markets, could adversely influence our lease renewals and market rent rates
that would in turn negatively impact our operating cash flows. Our primary focus is to achieve the best possible long-term, risk-adjusted return for our
company. In the event the economy continues to deteriorate or capital expenditure requirements necessary to maintain our properties increase, we may opt to
lower the dividend rather than put pressure on our investment grade credit rating or accumulate significant borrowings to meet a dividend level higher than
operating cash flow would support. However, due to differences in the timing of cash receipts and cash payments for operations, we may periodically borrow
funds on a short-term basis to pay dividends.

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, we generated approximately $76.0 million of cash flows from operating activities and approximately $134.9
million from combined net borrowing activities and the issuance of common stock
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pursuant to our dividend reinvestment program. From such cash flows, we (i) paid dividends to stockholders of approximately $70.8 million; (ii) invested
approximately $45.6 in mezzanine debt, (iii) funded capital expenditures and deferred leasing costs totaling approximately $15.7 million; and (iv) redeemed
approximately $87.1 million of common stock pursuant to our share redemption program.

Contractual Obligations

As of March 31,2008, our contractual obligations are as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due During the Years Ending
December 31,

Remainder
Total of 2008 20092010  2011-2012 Thereafter
Outstanding debt obligations™® $1,399,869 $33,744 $ —  $258,600 $1,107,525
Operating lease obligations 64,143 423 1,193 1,259 61,268
Tenant/building improvements and lease commission obligations® 52,452 38,203 12,152 2,097 —
Total $1,516464 $72,370 $13,345 $261,956 $1,168,793

o) Amounts include principal payments only. We made interest payments of approximately $16.3 million during the three months ended March 31,2008
and expect to pay interest in future periods on outstanding debt obligations based on the rates and terms described herein and in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

@) Includes contractual amounts we have agreed to pay as part of certain executed leases as of March 31, 2008. See Note 8 to our accompanying
consolidated financial statements for more information.

Results of Operations
Overview

As of March 31,2008, we owned interests in 83 real estate properties that were approximately 94% leased. Our income from continuing operations increased
as compared to the prior year primarily due to the increase in rental income and tenant reimbursements related to recent re-leasing activity at our existing
properties, as well as properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2006. Related increases in property operating costs as a result of reimbursable tenant
expenses, as well as increases in general and administrative expense and interest expense, were offset by the positive effects of Internalization, namely the
decrease in asset management and property management fees, which were eliminated as of April 16, 2007. Additionally, non-recurring other rental income
related to leases terminated or restructured during the period increased as compared to the prior year.

20



Table of Contents

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2008 vs. the three months ended March 31, 2007

The following table sets forth selected data from our consolidated statement of income for the three months ended March 31,2008 and 2007, respectively, as
well as each balance as a percentage of the sum of rental income and tenant reimbursements for the years presented (dollars in millions):

March 31, March 31, $
2008 % 2007 % Change

Revenue:
Rental income $ 1144 $ 111.7 2.7
Tenant reimbursements $§ 392 $ 360 _ 32

Total rental income and tenant reimbursements $ 153.6 100% $ 147.7 100% 59
Property management fee revenue $ 08 0% $ — 0% 0.8
Other rental income $ 48 3% § 05 0% 43
Expense:
Property operating costs $ 573 37%  $ 523 35% (5.0)
Asset and property management fees (related-party and other) $ 05 0% $ 94 6% 8.9
Depreciation $ 241 16% $ 234 16% 0.7)
Amortization $ 165 11% § 172 12% 0.7
General and administrative expense $ 71 5% $ 39 3% 3.2)
Other income (expense)
Interest expense § (17.3) 11% $ (16.0) 11% (1.3)
Interest and other income $ 07 0% $ 2.1 1% (1.4)
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures $§ 06 0% $ 038 1% 0.2)

Continuing Operations

Rental income increased from approximately $111.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 to approximately $114.4 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2008. This increase relates primarily to re-leasing activity at our existing properties. Tenant reimbursements increased from
approximately $36.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2007 to approximately $39.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008. This
increase reflects an increase in recoverable property operating costs during the three months ended March 31, 2008, as well as properties acquired subsequent
to December 31, 2006.

Property management fee revenue, which includes both fee revenue and salary reimbursements, increased approximately $0.8 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2008 as compared to the prior period, as a result of our managing properties owned by other entities sponsored by our former advisor. We
entered into the property management agreements in connection with the closing of Internalization on April 16, 2007. As such, we had no such property
management fee revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2007. Such income may decrease in future periods in the event that our former advisor makes
other arrangements for the management of these properties. (See Note 7 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a description of the terms
of'this agreement.)

Other rental income increased approximately $4.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 as compared to the prior period and is primarily
comprised of income recognized for lease terminations and restructurings. Unlike the majority of our rental income, which is recognized ratably over long-
term contracts, other rental income is recognized once we have completed our obligation to provide space to the tenant. Other rental income for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 relates primarily to leases terminated or restructured at the Nestle Los Angeles Building and the U.S. Bancorp Minneapolis
Building. Other rental income for the three months ended March 31, 2008 relates primarily to leases terminated at the 6031 Connection Drive Building in
Irving, Texas and the 1901 Main Street Building in Irvine,
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California. We do not expect such income to be comparable in future periods, as it will be dependent upon the execution of lease termination and/or
restructuring agreements that are deemed by management to be in the best interest of the portfolio over the long term.

Property operating costs increased approximately $5.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. This increase is
primarily the result of increases in reimbursable tenant expenses at certain of our properties, including property taxes, utilities, repair and maintenance, and
allocated administrative salaries, which are noted above as being reimbursed by tenants pursuant to their respective leases, as well as properties we acquired
subsequent to December 31, 2006.

Asset and property management fees decreased approximately $8.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. This
decrease is primarily due to the fact that we are no longer subject to certain related-party service contracts due to the Internalization transaction, which took
place on April 16,2007 (see Note 7 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.)

Depreciation expense increased approximately $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. This increase is the
result of the properties we acquired subsequent to December 31, 2006, as well as increased depreciation on tenant improvements and capital expenditures at
certain of our properties as a result of re-leasing activity.

Amortization expense decreased approximately $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. The decrease relates
mainly to leases which have fully amortized or terminated subsequent to March 31, 2007. This decrease was partially offset by the amortization of intangible
assets related to properties we acquired subsequent to December 31, 2006.

General and administrative expense increased approximately $3.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period.
Substantially all of the increase is related to employee salary and benefit costs as a result of being self-managed during the first quarter of 2008 as compared
to being externally managed during the first quarter of 2007. We expect quarterly general and administrative expenses to be comparable in future periods as a
result of being self-advised for a full year in the second quarter o£2008.

Interest expense increased approximately $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. We expect levels of interest
expense to increase in future periods as we continue to draw on our $500 Million Unsecured Facility to fund redemptions pursuant to our share redemption
program and new net investment activity, including capital expenditures at our existing properties.

Interest and other income decreased approximately $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior period. This decrease
relates primarily to a one-time reimbursement received during the quarter ended March 31, 2007 from our former advisor for a $1.3 million property
management termination expense (included in asset and property management fees). Such decrease was partially offset by income recognized as a result of
our investment in mezzanine debt in the current year. The level of interest income in future periods will be primarily dependent upon the amount of operating
cash on hand, as well as income earmned on our investment in mezzanine debt, and is expected to decrease in future periods as we use cash previously reserved
at the 35 W. Wacker Building to fund leasing commissions and tenant improvements required under leases executed during 2006.

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures decreased approximately $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 compared to the prior
period. We expect equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures to fluctuate in the near term based on the timing and extent to which dispositions occur
as our unconsolidated joint ventures approach their stated dissolution period.

Income from continuing operations per share on a fully diluted basis increased from $0.06 for the three months ended March 31,2007 to $0.08 for the three
months ended March 31, 2008, primarily as a result of the increase in lease termination income and the positive effects of Internalization, offset by the
issuance of additional shares as consideration for the Internalization.
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Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, we have classified the operations of properties held for
sale and sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Income from discontinued operations was approximately $21.5 million and approximately
$9,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. These amounts consist of operations, including the gain on the sale, of the
Citigroup Fort Mill Building and the Videojet Technology Building, which were both sold in March 2007. We do not expect that income from discontinued
operations will be comparable to future periods, as such income is subject to the timing and existence of future property dispositions.

Funds From Operations (“FFO”)

FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure and should not be viewed as an alternative measurement of our operating performance to net income. We believe that
FFO is a beneficial indicator of the performance of an equity REIT. Specifically, FFO calculations may be helpful to investors as a starting point in measuring
our operating performance, because they exclude factors that do not relate to, or are not indicative of, our operating performance, such as depreciation and
amortization of real estate assets and gains or losses from sales of operating real estate assets. As such factors can vary among owners of identical assets in
similar conditions based on historical cost accounting and useful-life estimates, FFO may provide a valuable comparison of operating performance between
periods and with other REITs. Management believes that accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real
estate assets diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry investors and
analysts have considered the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves.
As a result, we believe that the use of FFO, together with the required GAAP presentation, provides a more complete understanding of our performance
relative to our competitors and a more informed and appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving operating, financing, and investing activities.
We calculate FFO in accordance with the current National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts’ (“NAREIT”) definition, which defines FFO as net
income (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains or losses from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization on real estate assets, and
after the same adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. However, other REITs may not define FFO in accordance with the NAREIT
definition, or may interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do; therefore, our computation of FFO may not be comparable to such other
REITs.
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As presented below, FFO is adjusted to exclude the impact of certain noncash items, such as depreciation, amortization, and gains on the sale of real estate
assets. However, FFO is not adjusted to exclude the impact of impairment losses or certain other noncash charges to earnings. Reconciliations of net income
to FFO are presented below (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2008 2007

Net income $ 37,361 $ 50,127
Add:

Depreciation of real assets — wholly owned properties 24,069 23,712

Depreciation of real assets — unconsolidated partnerships 375 366

Amortization of lease-related costs — wholly owned properties 16,533 17,248

Amortization of lease-related costs — unconsolidated partnerships 241 296
Subtract:

Gain on sale of properties — wholly owned — (20,653)

Gain on sale of properties — unconsolidated partnerships — (7)
FFO $ 78,579 $ 71,089
Weighted-average shares outstanding — basic 485,898 466,256
Weighted-average shares outstanding — diluted 486,256 466,256

Set forth below is additional information related to certain significant cash and noncash items included in or excluded from net income above, which may be
helpful in assessing our operating results. In addition, cash flows generated from FFO may be used to fund all or a portion of certain capitalizable items that
are excluded from FFO, such as capitalized interest, tenant improvements, building improvements, and deferred lease costs. Please see our accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flows for details of our operating, investing, and financing cash activities.

Noncash Items Included in Net Income:

In accordance with GAAP, we recognized straight-line rental revenues and adjustments to straight-line receivables as a result of lease
terminations of approximately $1.3 million and $0.4 million during the three months ended March 31,2008 and 2007, respectively;

The amortization of deferred financing costs totaled approximately $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively. Additionally, the loss on extinguishment of debt in the accompanying consolidated statements of income totaled $0 for
the three months ended March 31,2008 and $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31,2007, respectively;

The amortization of above-market and below-market in-place leases recorded as a net increase in revenues in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income totaled approximately $0.7 million and $0.5 million for the three months ended March 31,2008 and 2007, respectively;

The noncash portion of compensation expense related to shares issued under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan recorded as general and
administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income totaled approximately $0.7 million and $0 for the three months
ended March 31,2008 and 2007, respectively; and

The noncash portion of interest income related to the amortization of discount related to the investment in mezzanine debt recorded as interest
and other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, offset by the amortization of acquisition costs associated with
acquiring the investment, totaled approximately $38,000 and $0 for the three months ended March 31,2008 and 2007, respectively.

Election as a REIT

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, and have operated as such beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 1998. To qualify as a
REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of our adjusted REIT taxable
income, computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding net capital gains attributable to our stockholders, as defined by the
Code. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to

24



Table of Contents

qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we may be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income for that year and for the four years following the year
during which qualification is lost and/or penalties, unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event
could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to our stockholders. However, we believe that we are organized and
operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and intend to continue to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner that we will remain
qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. In April 2007, we created Piedmont Office Holdings, Inc. (“Piedmont Sub”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Piedmont. We have elected to treat Piedmont Sub as a taxable REIT subsidiary. We may perform non-customary services for tenants of buildings that we
own, including any real estate or non-real estate related-services; however, any earnings related to such services are subject to federal and state income taxes.
In addition, for us to continue to qualify as a REIT, our investments in taxable REIT subsidiaries cannot exceed 20% of the value of our total assets. Except
for holding 20,000 limited partnership units in Piedmont OP, our operating partnership, Piedmont Sub, had no operations for the three months ended
March 31,2008.

No provision for federal income taxes has been made in our accompanying consolidated financial statements, as we had no operations subject to such
treatment, and we made distributions in excess of taxable income for the periods presented. We are subject to certain state and local taxes related to the
operations of properties in certain locations, which have been provided for in our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Inflation

We are exposed to inflation risk, as income from long-term leases is the primary source of our cash flows from operations. There are provisions in the majority
of our tenant leases that are intended to protect us from, and mitigate the risk of, the impact of inflation. These provisions include rent steps, reimbursement
billings for operating expense pass-through charges, real estate tax, and insurance reimbursements on a per square-foot basis, or in some cases, annual
reimbursement of operating expenses above certain per square-foot allowance. However, due to the long-term nature of the leases, the leases may not readjust
their reimbursement rates frequently enough to fully cover inflation.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies have been established to conform with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to use
judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting periods. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is possible that
different accounting policies would have been applied, thus resulting in a different presentation of the financial statements. Additionally, other companies
may utilize different estimates that may impact comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.

Investment in Real Estate Assets

We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of the asset to
determine the appropriate useful lives. These assessments have a direct impact on net income. The estimated useful lives of our assets by class are as follows:

Buildings 40 years

Building improvements 5-25 years

Land improvements 20-25 years

Tenant improvements Shorter of economic life or lease term
Intangible lease assets Lease term

Allocation of Purchase Price of Acquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of real properties, it is our policy to allocate the purchase price of properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and building,
and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above-market and below-market leases, other value of in-place leases, and value of
tenant relationships, based in each case on their estimated fair values.
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The fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land and buildings) are determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant,
and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to land and building based on our determination of the relative fair value of these assets. We determine the as-if-
vacant fair value of a property using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers. Factors considered by us in performing these analyses include
an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating
carrying costs, we include real estate taxes, insurance, and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods
based on current market demand. We also estimate the cost to execute similar leases including leasing commissions, legal, and other related costs.

The fair values of above-market and below-market in-place lease values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks
associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) our estimate of fair
market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining noncancelable term of the lease. The above-market
and below-market lease values are capitalized as intangible lease assets and liabilities and amortized as an adjustment of rental income over the remaining
terms of the respective leases.

The fair values of in-place leases include direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant, opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided
by acquiring an in-place lease, and tenant relationships. Direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant include commissions, tenant improvements, and
other direct costs and are estimated based on management’s consideration of current market costs to execute a similar lease. These direct costs are included in
deferred lease costs in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases. The
value of opportunity costs is calculated using the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases over a market absorption period for a similar
lease. Customer relationships are valued based on expected renewal of a lease or the likelihood of obtaining a particular tenant for other locations. These
lease intangibles are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining
terms of the respective leases.

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets require us to estimate market lease rates, property operating expenses, carrying costs during
lease-up periods, discount rates, market absorption periods, and the number of years the property is held for investment. The use of inappropriate estimates
would result in an incorrect assessment of our purchase price allocations, which could impact the amount of our reported net income.

Valuation of Real Estate Assets

We continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the real estate and related intangible assets,
both operating properties and properties under construction, in which we have an ownership interest, either directly or through investments in joint ventures,
may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present which indicate that the carrying amounts of real estate and related intangible
assets may not be recoverable, we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the
undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such expected undiscounted future
cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, we adjust the real estate and related intangible assets to the fair value and recognize an impairment loss.

Projections of expected future cash flows require that we estimate future market rental income amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease
agreements, property operating expenses, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property, and the number of years the property is held for investment,
among other factors. The subjectivity of assumptions used in the future cash flow analysis, including discount rates, could result in an incorrect assessment of
the property’s fair value and, therefore, could result in the misstatement of the carrying value of our real estate and related intangible assets and our net
income. We have determined that there has been no material impairment in the carrying value of real estate assets held by us or any unconsolidated joint
ventures at March 31, 2008.
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Goodwill

We account for our goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”). Goodwill is the excess of cost of an
acquired entity over the amounts specifically assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in purchase accounting for business combinations. We test
the carrying value of our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis. The carrying value will be tested for impairment between annual impairment tests if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. An impairment loss may be recognized when the carrying
amount of the acquired net assets exceeds the estimated fair value of those assets. We have determined that there have been no events or circumstances that
would indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired for the three months ended March 31,2008.

Investment in Variable Interest Entities

FIN 46R, a modification of FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, clarified the methodology for determining whether an entity is a Variable
Interest Entity (“VIE”) and the methodology for assessing who is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do
not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support from other parties. If an entity is determined to be a VIE, it must be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary
beneficiary is the enterprise that absorbs the majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both.
Generally, expected losses and expected residual returns are the expected negative and positive variability, respectively, in the fair value of the VIE’s net
assets.

When we make an investment, we assess whether the investment has a variable interest in a VIE and, if so, whether it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE.
These analyses require considerable judgment in determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective probability weighting of various
cash flow scenarios. Incorrect assumptions or estimates of future cash flows may result in an inaccurate determination of the primary beneficiary. The result
could be the consolidation of an entity acquired or formed in the future that would otherwise not have been consolidated or the non-consolidation of such an
entity that would otherwise have been consolidated.

We evaluate each investment to determine whether it has variable interests in a VIE. Further, we evaluate the sufficiency of the entities’ equity investment at
risk to absorb expected losses, and whether as a group, the equity has the characteristics of a controlling financial interest.

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

For the period from January 1,2007 through the closing of the Internalization transaction on April 16, 2007, we were a party to and incurred expenses under
agreements with our former advisor and its affiliates, whereby we paid certain fees or reimbursements for asset advisory fees, acquisition and advisory fees,
sales commissions, dealer-manager fees, and reimbursement of operating costs. See Note 7 of our accompanying consolidated financial statements included
herein for a discussion of the various related-party transactions, agreements, and fees.

Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to certain commitments and contingencies with regard to certain transactions. Refer to Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements for
further explanation. Examples of such commitments and contingencies include:

. Commitments Under Existing Lease Agreements;
. Assertion of Legal Action; and
. Other Legal Matters.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our future income, cash flows, and fair values of our financial instruments depend in part upon prevailing market interest rates. Market risk is the exposure to
loss resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currency, exchange rates, commodity prices, and equity prices. Our exposure to market risk includes
interest rate fluctuations in connection with
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any borrowings under our $500 Million Unsecured Facility and forecasted floating-rate debt issuances. As a result of our $500 Million Unsecured Facility,
the primary market risk to which we believe we are exposed is interest rate risk. Many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic
and international economic and political considerations, and other factors that are beyond our control contribute to interest rate risk. Our interest rate risk
management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on eamings and cash flow, primarily by maintaining a moderate level of variable-rate
debt.

All of our debt was entered into for other than trading purposes, and the fair value of our debt materially approximates its carrying amount.

As of March 31, 2008, approximately $1.2 billion of our outstanding debt is subject to fixed interest rates. Our total outstanding debt has an average interest
rate of approximately 4.92% per annum with expirations ranging from 2008 to 2017. A change in the market interest rate impacts the net financial instrument
position of our fixed-rate debt portfolio but has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows. Such agreements may result in higher fixed interest rates in
certain periods of lower variable interest rates, but are intended to decrease our exposure to potential increases in interest rates.

As of March 31,2008, there was approximately $213.6 million outstanding under our $500 Million Unsecured Facility. Our $500 Million Unsecured Facility
currently has a stated variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.475% per annum (2.70%, the 30-day LIBOR rate as of March 31, 2008). To the extent that we
borrow funds in the future under the $500 Million Unsecured Facility or potential future variable-rate lines of credit, we would have exposure to increases in
interest rates, which would potentially increase our cost of debt.

ITEM4T. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management’s Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 15-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) as of the end of the quarterly period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Principal Executive
Officer and the Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
quarterly report in providing a reasonable level of assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in applicable SEC rules and forms, including providing a reasonable
level of assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In Re Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 1:07-cv-00862-CAP (Upon motions to dismiss filed by defendants, parts
of all seven counts were dismissed by the court. Counts III through VII were dismissed in their entirety.)

On March 12, 2007, a stockholder filed a purported class action and derivative complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland
against, among others, Piedmont, our previous advisors, and our officers and directors prior to the closing of the Internalization. The complaint attempts to
assert class action claims on behalf of those persons who received and were entitled to vote on the proxy statement filed with the SEC on February 26,2007.
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The complaint alleges, among other things, (i) that the consideration to be paid as part of the Internalization is excessive; (ii) violations of Section 14(a),
including Rule 14a-9 thereunder, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, based upon allegations that the proxy statement contains false and misleading
statements or omits to state material facts; (iii) that the board of directors and the current and previous advisors breached their fiduciary duties to the class and
to Piedmont; and (iv) that the proposed Internalization will unjustly enrich certain directors and officers of Piedmont.

The complaint seeks, among other things, (i) certification of the class action; (ii) a judgment declaring the proxy statement false and misleading;
(iii) unspecified monetary damages; (iv) to nullify any stockholder approvals obtained during the proxy process; (v) to nullify the merger proposal and the
merger agreement; (vi) restitution for disgorgement of profits, benefits, and other compensation for wrongful conduct and fiduciary breaches; (vii) the
nomination and election of new independent directors, and the retention of a new financial advisor to assess the advisability of Piedmont’s strategic
alternatives; and (viii) the payment of reasonable attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees.

On June 27,2007, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint, which contains the same counts as the original complaint, described above, with amended factual
allegations based primarily on events occurring subsequent to the original complaint and the addition of a Piedmont officer as an individual defendant.

On March 31, 2008, the court granted in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended complaint. The court dismissed five of the seven counts of the
amended complaint in their entirety. The court dismissed the remaining two counts with the exception of allegations regarding the failure to disclose in our
proxy statement details of certain expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont. On April 21, 2008, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint, which
alleges violations of the federal proxy rules based upon allegations that the proxy statement to obtain approval for Internalization omitted details of certain
expressions of interest in acquiring Piedmont. The second amended complaint seeks, among other things, unspecified monetary damages, to nullify and
rescind Internalization, and to cancel and rescind any stock issued to the defendants as consideration for Internalization. On May 12, 2008, the defendants
answered the second complaint.

We believe that the allegations contained in the complaint are without merit and will continue to vigorously defend this action. Due to the uncertainties
inherent in the litigation process, it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of this matter at this time; however, as with any litigation, the risk of
financial loss does exist.

In Re Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. Securities Litigation, Civil Action No. 1:07-cv-02660-CAP (complaint filed - time for defendants to respond has not
passed)

On October 25,2007, the same stockholder mentioned above filed a second purported class action in the United States District Court for the Northern District
of Georgia against us and our board of directors. The complaint attempts to assert class action claims on behalf of (i) those persons who were entitled to tender
their shares pursuant to the tender offer filed with the SEC by Lex-Win Acquisition LLC on May 25,2007, and (ii) all persons who are entitled to vote on the
proxy statement filed with the SEC on October 16,2007.

The complaint alleges, among other things, violations of the federal securities laws, including Sections 14(a) and 14(e) of the Exchange Act and Rules 14a-9
and 14e-2(b) promulgated thereunder. In addition, the complaint alleges that defendants have also breached their fiduciary duties owed to the proposed
classes.

On December 26, 2007, the plaintiff filed a motion seeking that the court designate it as lead plaintiff and its counsel as class lead counsel, which the court
granted on May 2,2008.

As of the date of this filing, the time for responding to the complaint has not yet passed. We believe that the allegations contained in the complaint are
without merit and will continue to vigorously defend this action. Due to the uncertainties inherent in the litigation process, it is not possible to predict the
ultimate outcome of this matter at this time; however, as with any litigation, the risk of financial loss does exist.
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Donald and Donna Goldstein, Derivatively on behalf of Nominal Defendant Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. v. Leo F. Wells, III, et al. (motion to dismiss
granted - plaintiffs filed a notice to appeal)

On August 24, 2007, two stockholders of Piedmont filed a putative shareholder derivative complaint in the Superior Court of Fulton County, State of
Georgia, on behalf of Piedmont against, among others, one of our previous advisors, and a number of our current and former officers and directors.

The complaint alleges, among other things, (i) that the consideration paid as part of the Internalization of our previous advisors was excessive; (ii) that the
defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Piedmont; and (iii) that the Internalization transaction unjustly enriched the defendants.

The complaint seeks, among other things, (i) a judgment declaring that the defendants have committed breaches of their fiduciary duties and were unjustly
enriched at the expense of Piedmont; (ii) monetary damages equal to the amount by which Piedmont has been damaged by the defendants; (iii) an order
awarding Piedmont restitution from the defendants and ordering disgorgement of all profits and benefits obtained by the defendants from their wrongful
conduct and fiduciary breaches; (iv) an order directing the defendants to respond in good faith to offers which are in the best interest of Piedmont and its
stockholders and to establish a committee of independent directors or an independent third party to evaluate strategic alternatives and potential offers for
Piedmont, and to take steps to maximize Piedmont’s and the stockholders’ value; (v) an order directing the defendants to disclose all material information to
Piedmont’s stockholders with respect to the Internalization transaction and all offers to purchase Piedmont and to adopt and implement a procedure or
process to obtain the highest possible price for the stockholders; (vi) an order rescinding, to the extent already implemented, the Internalization transaction;
(vii) the establishment of a constructive trust upon any benefits improperly received by the defendants as a result of their wrongful conduct; and (viii) an
award to the plaintiffs of costs and disbursements of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees.

On March 13, 2008, the court granted the motion to dismiss this complaint. However, on April 11, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a notice to appeal the court’s
judgment granting the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Other Legal Matters

We are from time to time a party to other legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of our business. Except for the litigation disclosed above, we
are not currently involved in any litigation, the outcome of which would, in management’s judgment based on information currently available, have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition, nor is management aware, in consultation with outside legal counsel, of any other
such litigation threatened against us during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 requiring disclosure under Item 103 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM1A. RISKFACTORS

There have been no known material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
(a)  There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the first quarter of 2008.
(b) Not applicable.

(¢)  Our board of directors has adopted a share redemption program, as announced in December 1999 and as subsequently amended from time to
time, which provides stockholders with the opportunity to have their shares redeemed after they have held them for a period of one year for a
purchase price equal to the lesser of (1) $10 per share, or (2) the purchase price per share that they actually paid for their shares of the Company,
less in both instances any amounts previously distributed to them attributable to special distributions of net sales proceeds from the sale of our
properties (currently $1.62 per share). Redemptions under the program are currently limited as follows: (1) during any calendar year, we will not
redeem in excess of 5.0% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar year; and (2) in no event shall the
aggregate amount of redemptions under our share redemption program exceed aggregate proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to
our dividend reinvestment plan. During the quarter ended March 31, 2008,
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we redeemed shares pursuant to our share redemption program as follows (in thousands, except per-share amounts):

Maximum Approximate
Dollar Value of Shares

Approximate Approximate Available That May Yet
Number of Average Price Paid Be Redeemed in Calendar
Period Shares Redeemed per Share Year 2008 Under the Plan
January 1,2008 to January 31,2008 3,244 $ 8.38 $ 174,812
February 1, 2008 to February 29, 2008 4,062 $ 8.38 $ 140,772
March 1,2008 to March 31,2008 2,519 $ 8.38 $ 119,666(1)

() The maximum dollar amount remaining as of March 31, 2008 for redemptions pursuant to our share redemption program in future periods is
approximately $121.0 million, as life-to-date redemptions may not exceed life-to-date proceeds received under our dividend reinvestment plan.
However, due to additional program restrictions, the pool of shares available for all redemptions in each calendar year (including ordinary, redemptions
upon death, and required minimum distribution redemptions) is recalculated on January 1% of each year. As a result of this annual calculation, the total
shares available for redemptions during the period January 1,2008 to December 31,2008 will be approximately 24.1 million shares.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
(a)  There were no defaults with respect to any of our indebtedness during the first quarter of2008.

(b) Not applicable.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders during the first quarter of 2008.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
(a) None.
(b) None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The Exhibits required to be filed with this report are set forth on the Exhibit Index to First Quarter Form 10-Q attached hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
(Registrant)

Dated: May 13,2008 By: /s/ Robert E. Bowers
Robert E. Bowers
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President (Principal
Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
TO
FIRST QUARTER FORM 10-Q
OF
PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1 Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Company (incorporating all amendments thereto through December 17,2007).
32 Amended Bylaws of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (incorporating all amendments thereto through September 24, 2007) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November, 14,2007).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.
322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002.
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Exhibit 3.1

SECOND ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT
OF
PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.

(giving effect to all amendments through December 20, 2007)

Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of
Maryland, that:

FIRST: The Company desires to amend and restate its charter as currently in effect.

SECOND: The provisions of the charter now in effect, as amended hereby in accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”),
are as follows:

ARTICLE I
THE COMPANY; DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1 NAME. The name of the corporation (the “Company”) is:
“Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc.”

Under circumstances in which the Board of Directors determines that use of the name “Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc.” is not practicable, it may use any
other designation or name for the Company.

SECTION 1.2 RESIDENT AGENT. The name and address of the resident agent for service of process of the Company in the State of Maryland is The
Corporation Trust Incorporated, 300 East Lombard Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The resident agent is a Maryland corporation and a resident of the
State of Maryland. The address of the principal office of the Company in the State of Maryland is ¢c/o The Corporation Trust Incorporated, 300 East Lombard
Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The Company may also have such other offices or places of business within or without the State of Maryland as the
Directors may from time to time determine.

SECTION 1.3 NATURE OF COMPANY. The Company is a Maryland corporation within the meaning ofthe MGCL.

SECTION 1.4 PURPOSE. The purposes for which the Company is formed are to engage in any lawful act or activity, including, without limitation or
obligation, engaging in business as a REIT (as defined in Section 1.5) under the Code (as defined in Section 1.5), for which corporations may be organized
under the laws of the State of Maryland as now or hereafter permitted by such laws.

SECTION 1.5 DEFINITIONS. As used in this Charter, the following terms shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise requires
(certain other terms used in Article VII hereof are defined in Section 7.7 hereof):

“ACQUISITION EXPENSES” means any and all expenses incurred by the Company or any Affiliate thereof in connection with the selection or
acquisition of any Property, whether or not acquired, including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, travel and communications expenses, costs of
appraisals, nonrefundable option payments on Property not acquired, accounting fees and expenses, and title insurance.

“ACQUISITION FEE” means any and all fees and commissions, exclusive of Acquisition Expenses, paid by any Person or entity to any other Person or
entity (including any fees or commissions paid by or to any Affiliate of the Company) in connection with the purchase, development or construction of a
Property, including, without limitation, real estate commissions, acquisition fees, finder’s fees, selection fees, development fees, construction fees,
nonrecurring management fees, consulting fees, loan fees, points, or any other fees or commissions of a similar nature. Excluded shall be development fees
and construction fees paid to any Person or entity in connection with the actual development and construction of any Property.

“AFFILIATE” or “AFFILIATED” means, as to any individual, corporation, partnership, trust, limited liability company or other legal entity (other than
the Company), (i) any Person or entity directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controlling, controlled by, or under common control with
another Person or entity; (ii) any Person or entity, directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or holding with power to vote ten percent (10%) or more of the
outstanding voting Securities of another Person or entity; (iii) any officer, director, general partner or trustee of such Person or entity; (iv) any Person ten
percent (10%) or more of whose outstanding voting Securities are directly or indirectly owned, controlled or held, with power to vote, by such other Person;
and (v) if such other Person or entity is an officer, director, general partner, or trustee of a Person or entity, the Person or entity for which such Person or entity
acts in any such capacity.



“ASSETS” means Properties.

“AVERAGE INVESTED ASSETS” means, for a specified period, the average of the aggregate book value of the assets of the Company invested,
directly or indirectly, in equity interests in and loans secured by Real Estate before reserves for depreciation or bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves,
computed by taking the average of such values at the end of each month during such period.

“BYLAWS” means the bylaws of the Company, as the same are in effect and may be amended from time to time.
“CHARTER” means these Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement, as may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

“CODE” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto. Reference to any provision of the
Code means such provision as in effect from time to time, as the same may be amended, and any successor provision thereto, as interpreted by any applicable
regulations as in effect from time to time.

“COMMON SHARES” means the Company’s common stock that may be issued from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Charter and
applicable law, as described in Section 7.2 hereof.

“COMPANY PROPERTY” means any and all property, real, personal or otherwise, tangible or intangible, which is transferred or conveyed to the
Company (including all rents, income, profits and gains therefrom), which is owned or held by, or for the account of, the Company.

“DEALER MANAGER” means Wells Investment Securities, Inc., or such other Person or entity selected by the Board of Directors to act as the dealer
manager for an offering of our Equity Shares. Wells Investment Securities, Inc. is a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

“DETERMINATION DATE” means July 30, 2009 provided that the Company’s Board of Directors may in its sole discretion extend the Determination
Date to January 30,2011 through a resolution adopted by a majority of the Directors.”

“DIRECTORS,” “BOARD OF DIRECTORS” or “BOARD” means, collectively, the individuals appointed as Directors of the Company pursuant to
Article II of this Charter so long as they continue in office and all other individuals who have been duly elected and qualify as Directors of the Company
hereunder.

“DISTRIBUTION” or “DISTRIBUTIONS” means any distribution or distributions of money or other property, made pursuant to Section 7.2(iii) hereof
or otherwise, by the Company to owners of Equity Shares, including distributions that may constitute a return of capital for federal income tax purposes. The
Company will make no distributions other than distributions of money or readily marketable Securities unless the requirements of Section 7.2(iii) hereof are
satisfied.

“EQUITY SHARES” means shares of capital stock ofthe Company of any class or series, including Common Shares or Preferred Shares.

“INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR” means a Director who is not, and within the last two (2) years has not been, directly or indirectly associated with the
Company by virtue of performing services, other than as a Director, for the Company. An indirect relationship shall include circumstances in which a
Director’s spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers- or fathers-in-law, sons- or daughters-in-law or brothers- or sisters-in-law is or has been associated with
the Company.

“INDEPENDENT EXPERT” means a Person or entity with no material current or prior business or personal relationship with the Directors and who is
engaged to a substantial extent in the business of rendering opinions regarding the value of assets of the type held by the Company.

“INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING” means the offering and sale of Equity Shares of the Company pursuant to the Company’s first effective registration
statement covering its Common Shares filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which became effective with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 30, 1998 (Commission File No. 333-32099).

“INVESTED CAPITAL” means the amount calculated by multiplying the total number of Shares purchased by Stockholders by the issue price, reduced
by the portion of any Distribution that is attributable to Net Sales Proceeds and by any amounts paid by the Company to repurchase Shares pursuant to the
Company’s plan for repurchase of Shares.

“JOINT VENTURES” means those joint venture or general partnership arrangements in which the Company is a co-venturer or general partner which
are established to acquire Properties.

“LEVERAGE” means the aggregate amount of indebtedness of the Company for money borrowed (including purchase money mortgage loans)
outstanding at any time, both secured and unsecured.



“LISTING” means the listing of the Common Shares of the Company on a national securities exchange or over-the-counter market.
“MGCL” means the Maryland General Corporation Law, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto.
“MORTGAGE” means mortgages, deeds of trust or other security interests on or applicable to Real Property.

“NASAA REIT GUIDELINES” means the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts published by the North American Securities
Administrators Association.

“NET ASSETS” means the total assets of the Company (other than intangibles), at cost, before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves, less
total liabilities, calculated quarterly by the Company on a basis consistently applied.

“NET INCOME” means for any period, the total revenues applicable to such period, less the total expenses applicable to such period excluding
additions to reserves for depreciation, bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves; provided, however, Net Income for purposes of calculating total allowable
Operating Expenses shall exclude the gain from the Sale of the Company’s assets.

“NET SALES PROCEEDS” means in the case of a transaction described in clause (i)(A) of the definition of Sale, the proceeds of any such transaction
less the amount of all real estate commissions and closing costs paid by the Company. In the case of a transaction described in clause (i)(B) of such definition,
Net Sales Proceeds means the proceeds of any such transaction less the amount of any legal and other selling expenses incurred in connection with such
transaction. In the case of a transaction described in clause (i)(C) of such definition, Net Sales Proceeds means the proceeds of any such transaction actually
distributed to the Company from the Joint Venture. In the case of a transaction or series of transactions described in clause (i)(D) of the definition of Sale, Net
Sales Proceeds means the proceeds of any such transaction less the amount of all commissions and closing costs paid by the Company. In the case of a
transaction described in clause (ii) of the definition of Sale, Net Sales Proceeds means the proceeds of such transaction or series of transactions less all
amounts generated thereby and reinvested in one or more Properties within one hundred eighty (180) days thereafter and less the amount of any real estate
commissions, closing costs, and legal and other selling expenses incurred by or allocated to the Company in connection with such transaction or series of
transactions. Net Sales Proceeds shall also include, in the case of any lease of a Property consisting of a building only, any amounts from tenants, borrowers or
lessees that the Company determines, in its discretion, to be economically equivalent to the proceeds of a Sale. Net Sales Proceeds shall not include, as
determined by the Company in its sole discretion, any amounts reinvested in one or more Properties, or other assets, to repay outstanding indebtedness, or to
establish reserves.

“NYSE” means the New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

“OPERATING EXPENSES” means all costs and expenses incurred by the Company, as determined under generally accepted accounting principles,
which in any way are related to the operation of the Company or to Company business, including advisory fees, but excluding (i) the expenses of raising
capital such as Organizational and Offering Expenses, legal, audit, accounting, underwriting, brokerage, listing, registration, and other fees, printing and
other such expenses and tax incurred in connection with the issuance, distribution, transfer, registration and Listing of the Shares, (ii) interest payments,
(iii) taxes, (iv) non-cash expenditures such as depreciation, amortization and bad debt reserves, (v) Acquisition Fees and Acquisition Expenses, and (vi) real
estate commissions on the Sale of property, and other expenses connected with the acquisition and ownership of Real Estate interests, mortgage loans, or
other Property (such as the costs of foreclosure, insurance premiums, legal services, maintenance, repair, and improvement of Property).

“OPERATING PARTNERSHIP” means Wells Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

“ORGANIZATIONAL and OFFERING EXPENSES” means any and all costs and expenses, other than Selling Commissions and marketing support and
due diligence expenses, incurred by the Company or any Affiliate in connection with the formation, qualification and registration of the Company, and the
marketing and distribution of Shares, including, without limitation, the following: total underwriting and brokerage discounts and commissions (including
fees of the underwriters’ attorneys), expenses for printing, engraving, amending, supplementing, mailing and distributing costs, salaries of employees while
engaged in sales activity, telegraph and telephone costs, all advertising and marketing expenses (including the costs related to investor and broker-dealer
sales meetings), charges of transfer agents, registrars, trustees, escrow holders, depositories, experts, and fees, expenses and taxes related to the filing,
registration and qualification of the sale of the Securities under Federal and State laws, including accountants’ and attorneys’ fees.

“PERSON” means an individual, corporation, partnership, estate, trust (including a trust qualified under Section 401(a) or 501(c)(17) of the Code), a
portion of a trust permanently set aside for or to be used exclusively for the purposes described in Section 642(c) of the Code, association, private foundation
within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Code, joint stock company or other entity, or any government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, and
also includes a group as that term is used for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“PREFERRED SHARES” means shares of the Company’s preferred stock, which may be issued in one or more classes or series in accordance with
Section 7.3 hereof.



“PROPERTY” or “PROPERTIES” means (i) the real properties, including the buildings located thereon, (ii) the real properties only, or (iii) the
buildings only, which are acquired by the Company or the Operating Partnership, either directly or through joint venture arrangements or other partnerships.

“PROSPECTUS” means the same as that term is defined in Section 2(10) of the Securities Act of 1933, including a preliminary prospectus, an offering
circular as described in Rule 256 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act of 1933 or, in the case of an intrastate offering, any document
by whatever name known, utilized for the purpose of offering and selling securities to the public.

“REAL PROPERTY” or “REAL ESTATE” means land, rights in land (including leasehold interests), and any buildings, structures, improvements,
furnishings, fixtures and equipment located on or used in connection with land and rights or interests in land.

“REIT” means a “real estate investment trust” as defined pursuant to Sections 856 through 860 of the Code.

“REIT PROVISIONS OF THE CODE” means Sections 856 through 860 ofthe Code and any successor or other provisions of the Code relating to REITs
(including provisions as to the attribution of ownership of beneficial interests therein) and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ROLL-UP ENTITY” means a partnership, real estate investment trust, corporation, trust or similar entity that would be created or would survive after
the successful completion of a proposed Roll-Up Transaction.

“ROLL-UP TRANSACTION” means a transaction involving the acquisition, merger, conversion, or consolidation, directly or indirectly, of the
Company and the issuance of Securities of a Roll-Up Entity. Such term does not include: (i) a transaction involving Securities of the Company that have
been listed on a national securities exchange or included for quotation by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (NASDAQ) for at least 12 months; or (ii) a
transaction involving the conversion to corporate, trust, or association form of only the Company if, as a consequence of the transaction, there will be no
significant adverse change in Stockholder voting rights, the term of existence of the Company or the investment objectives of the Company.

“SALE” or “SALES” (i) means any transaction or series of transactions whereby: (A) the Company sells, grants, transfers, conveys or relinquishes its
ownership of any Property or portion thereof, including the lease of any Property consisting of the building only, and including any event with respect to any
Property which gives rise to a significant amount of insurance proceeds or condemnation awards; (B) the Company sells, grants, transfers, conveys or
relinquishes its ownership of all or substantially all of the interest of the Company in any Joint Venture in which it is a co-venturer or partner; (C) any Joint
Venture in which the Company as a co-venturer or partner sells, grants, transfers, conveys or relinquishes its ownership of any Property or portion thereof,
including any event with respect to any Property which gives rise to insurance claims or condemnation awards; or (D) the Company sells, grants, conveys, or
relinquishes its interest in any Asset, or portion thereof, including an event with respect to any Asset which gives rise to a significant amount of insurance
proceeds or similar awards, but (ii) shall not include any transaction or series of transactions specified in clause (i)(A), (i)(B), or (i)(C) above in which the
proceeds of such transaction or series of transactions are reinvested in one or more Properties within one hundred eighty (180) days thereafter.

“SECURITIES” means Equity Shares, Shares-in-Trust, any other stock, shares or other evidences of equity or beneficial or other interests, voting trust
certificates, bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, secured or unsecured, convertible, subordinated or otherwise, or in general any
instruments commonly known as “securities” or any certificates of interest, shares or participations in, temporary or interim certificates for, receipts for,
guarantees of, or warrants, options or rights to subscribe to, purchase or acquire, any of the foregoing.

“SELLING COMMISSIONS” means any and all commissions payable to underwriters, dealer managers, or other broker-dealers in connection with the
sale of Shares, including, without limitation, commissions payable to Wells Investment Securities, Inc., if any.

“SHARES” means any shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $.01 per share, previously issued by the Company pursuant to an effective
registration statement and shares of the Company’s common stock currently registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to an effective
registration statement.

“STOCKHOLDERS” means the registered holders ofthe Company’s Equity Shares.

“UNIMPROVED REAL PROPERTY” means Property in which the Company has an equity interest that is not acquired for the purpose of producing
rental or other operating income, that has no development or construction in process and for which no development or construction is planned, in good faith,
to commence within one year.



ARTICLE II
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 2.1 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS. The number of Directors of the Company shall be nine (9), which number may be increased or decreased
from time to time by resolution of the Directors then in office or by a majority vote of the Stockholders entitled to vote; provided, however, that the total
number of Directors shall be not fewer than three (3) and not more than fifteen (15), subject to increase or decrease by the affirmative vote of 80% of the
members of the entire Board of Directors. A majority of the Board of Directors will be Independent Directors except for a period of sixty (60) days after the
death, removal or resignation of an Independent Director. Any vacancies will be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Directors, though
less than a quorum. Independent Directors shall nominate replacements for vacancies in positions formerly held by Independent Directors. No reduction in
the number of Directors shall cause the removal of any Director from office prior to the expiration of his or her term. For the purposes of voting for Directors,
each Equity Share may be voted for as many individuals as there are Directors to be elected and for whose election the holder of such Equity Share is entitled
to vote, or as may otherwise be required by the MGCL or other applicable law as in effect from time to time. A Director may be removed with or without cause
by the vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote for the election of Directors at a special meeting of the
Stockholders called for the purpose of removing such Director.

SECTION 2.2 EXPERIENCE. A Director shall have had at least three (3) years of relevant experience demonstrating the knowledge and experience
required to successfully acquire and manage the type of assets being acquired by the Company. At least one of the Independent Directors shall have three
(3) years of relevant real estate experience.

SECTION 2.3 COMMITTEES. Subject to the MGCL, the Directors may establish such committees as they deem appropriate, in their discretion,
provided that the majority of the members of each committee are Independent Directors.

SECTION 2.4 TERM; CURRENT BOARD. Each Director shall hold office for one (1) year, until the next annual meeting of Stockholders and until his
or her successor shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified. Directors may be elected to an unlimited number of successive terms. The names of the
current Directors who shall serve until the next annual meeting of Stockholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualify are as follows:

Michael R. Buchanan William H. Keogler, Jr.
Donald A. Miller Donald S. Moss
Leo F. Wells, 11 W. Wayne Woody

SECTION 2.5 FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS. The Directors serve in a fiduciary capacity to the Company and have a fiduciary duty to the Stockholders
ofthe Company.

SECTION 2.6 APPROVAL BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS. A majority of Independent Directors must approve all matters to which 2.1, 5.2, 5.3(iii),
5.4(vii), 5.4(ix), 5.4(xii) and 9.2 herein apply.

SECTION 2.7 RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL. Any Director may resign by written notice to the Board of Directors, effective upon execution and
delivery to the Company of such written notice or upon any future date specified in the notice. A Director may be removed from office with or without cause
only at a meeting of the Stockholders called for that purpose, by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a majority of the Equity Shares then
outstanding and entitled to vote, subject to the rights of any Preferred Shares to vote for such Directors. The notice of any such meeting shall indicate that the
purpose, or one of the purposes, of such meeting is to determine if a Director should be removed.

SECTION 2.8 BUSINESS COMBINATION STATUTE. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter or any contrary provision of law, the
Maryland Business Combination Statute, found in Title 3, Subtitle 6 of the MGCL, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto, shall not
apply to any “business combination” (as defined in Section 3-601(e) of the MGCL) of the Company and any Person.

SECTION 2.9 CONTROL SHARE ACQUISITION STATUTE. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter or any contrary provision of law, the
Maryland Control Share Acquisition Statute, found in Title 3, Subtitle 7 of the MGCL, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto shall
not apply to any acquisition of Securities of the Company by any Person.

ARTICLE 1II
POWERS OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 3.1 GENERAL. Subject to the express limitations herein or in the Bylaws and to the general standard of care required of directors under the
MGCL and other applicable law, (i) the business and affairs of the Company shall be managed under the direction of the Board of Directors and (ii) the
Directors shall have full, exclusive and absolute power, control and authority over the Company Property and over the business of the Company as if they, in
their own right, were the sole owners thereof, except as otherwise limited by



this Charter. The Directors have established the written policies on investments and borrowing set forth in this Article III and Article V hereof and shall

monitor the administrative procedures, investment operations and performance of the Company to assure that such policies are carried out. The Board of
Directors may take any actions that, in its sole judgment and discretion, are necessary or desirable to conduct the business of the Company. A majority of the

Board of Directors, including a majority of Independent Directors, hereby ratify this Charter, which shall be construed with a presumption in favor of the
grant of power and authority to the Directors. Any construction of this Charter or determination made in good faith by the Directors concerning their powers
and authority hereunder shall be conclusive. The enumeration and definition of particular powers of the Directors included in this Article III shall in no way
be limited or restricted by reference to or inference from the terms of this or any other provision of this Charter or construed or deemed by inference or
otherwise in any manner to exclude or limit the powers conferred upon the Directors under the general laws of the State of Maryland as now or hereafter in
force.

SECTION 3.2 SPECIFIC POWERS AND AUTHORITY. Subject only to the express limitations herein, and in addition to all other powers and authority
conferred by this Charter or by law, the Board of Directors, without any vote, action or consent by the Stockholders, shall have and may exercise, at any time
or times, in the name of the Company or on its behalf the following powers and authorities:

(1) INVESTMENTS. Subject to Article V and Section 9.5 hereof, to invest in, purchase or otherwise acquire and to hold real, personal or mixed,
tangible or intangible, property of any kind wherever located, or rights or interests therein or in connection therewith, all without regard to whether
such property, interests or rights are authorized by law for the investment of funds held by trustees or other fiduciaries, or whether obligations the
Company acquires have a term greater or lesser than the term of office of the Directors or the possible termination of the Company, for such
consideration as the Board of Directors may deem proper (including cash, property of any kind or Securities of the Company); provided, however, that
the Directors shall take such actions as they deem necessary and desirable to comply with any requirements of the MGCL relating to the types of assets
held by the Company.

(i1) REIT QUALIFICATION. The Board of Directors shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Company and its Stockholders to qualify for
U.S. federal income tax treatment in accordance with the REIT Provisions of the Code (as such term is defined in Section 1.5 hereof). In furtherance of
the foregoing, the Board of Directors shall use its best efforts to take such actions as are necessary, and may take such actions as it deems desirable (in
its sole discretion) to preserve the status of the Company as a REIT; provided, however, in the event that the Board of Directors determines, by vote of
at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Directors, that it no longer is in the best interests of the Company to qualify as a REIT, the Board of Directors shall take
such actions as are required by the Code, the MGCL and other applicable law, to cause the matter of termination of qualification as a REIT to be
submitted to a vote of the Stockholders of the Company pursuant to Section 8.2.

(ii1) SALE, DISPOSITION AND USE OF COMPANY PROPERTY. Subject to Article V and Sections 9.5 and 10.3 hereof, the Board of Directors
shall have the authority to sell, rent, lease, hire, exchange, release, partition, assign, mortgage, grant security interests in, encumber, negotiate, dedicate,
grant easements in and options with respect to, convey, transfer (including transfers to entities wholly or partially owned by the Company or the
Directors) or otherwise dispose of any or all of the Company Property by deeds (including deeds in lieu of foreclosure with or without consideration),
trust deeds, assignments, bills of sale, transfers, leases, mortgages, financing statements, security agreements and other instruments for any of such
purposes executed and delivered for and on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors by one or more of the Directors or by a duly authorized
officer, employee, agent or nominee of the Company, on such terms as it may deem appropriate; to give consents and make contracts relating to the
Company Property and its use or other property or matters; to develop, improve, manage, use, alter or otherwise deal with the Company Property; and
to rent, lease or hire from others property of any kind; provided, however, that the Company may not use or apply land for any purposes not permitted
by applicable law.

(iv) FINANCINGS. To borrow or, in any other manner, raise money for the purposes and on the terms the Board of Directors may determine,
which terms may (i) include evidencing the same by issuance of Securities of the Company and (ii) have such other provisions as the Board of Directors
may determine; to reacquire such Securities of the Trust; to enter into other contracts or obligations on behalf of the Trust; to guarantee, indemnify or
act as surety with respect to payment or performance of obligations of any Person; to mortgage, pledge, assign, grant security interests in or otherwise
encumber the Company Property to secure any such Securities of the Company, contracts or obligations (including guarantees, indemnifications and
suretyships); and to renew, modify, release, compromise, extend, consolidate or cancel, in whole or in part, any obligation to or of the Company or
participate in any reorganization of obligors to the Company; provided, however, that the Company’s Leverage on an aggregate basis may not exceed
50% of'the Company’s Properties’ aggregate value; provided, that Leverage on individual Properties may exceed such limit.

(v) LENDING. Subject to all applicable limitations in this Charter, to lend money or other Company Property on such terms, for such purposes
and to such Persons as it may determine.

(vi) ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES. Subject to the provisions of Article VII hereof, to create and authorize and direct the issuance (on either a pro
rata or a non-pro rata basis) by the Company, of shares, units or amounts of one or more types, series or classes, of Securities of the Company, which
may have such voting rights, dividend or interest rates, preferences, subordinations, conversion or redemption prices or rights; maturity dates,
distribution, exchange, or liquidation rights or other rights as the Board of Directors may determine, without vote of or other action by the
Stockholders, to such Persons for such consideration, at such time or times and in such manner and on such terms as the Directors determine, to list any
of'the Securities of the Company on any securities exchange; and to purchase or otherwise acquire, hold, cancel, reissue, sell and transfer any Securities
of'the Company.



(vii) EXPENSES AND TAXES. To pay any charges, expenses or liabilities necessary or desirable, in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors,
for carrying out the purposes of the Charter and conducting the business of the Company, including compensation or fees to Directors, officers,
employees and agents of the Company, and to Persons contracting with the Company, and any taxes, levies, charges and assessments of any kind
imposed upon or chargeable against the Company, the Company Property or the Directors in connection therewith; and to prepare and file any tax
returns, reports or other documents and take any other appropriate action relating to the payment of any such charges, expenses or liabilities.

(viii) COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT. To collect, sue for and receive money or other property due to the Company; to consent to
extensions of the time for payment, or to the renewal, of any Securities or obligations; to engage or to intervene in, prosecute, defend, compound,
enforce, compromise, release, abandon or adjust any actions, suits, proceedings, disputes, claims, demands, security interests or things relating to the
Company, the Company Property or the Company’s affairs; to exercise any rights and enter into any agreements and take any other action necessary or
desirable in connection with the foregoing.

(ix) DEPOSITS. To deposit funds or Securities constituting part of the Company Property in banks, trust companies, savings and loan
associations, financial institutions and other depositories, whether or not such deposits will draw interest, subject to withdrawal on such terms and in
such manner as the Board of Directors may determine.

(x) ALLOCATION; ACCOUNTS. To determine whether moneys, profits or other assets of the Company shall be charged or credited to, or
allocated between, income and capital, including whether or not to amortize any premium or discount and to determine in what manner any expenses
or disbursements are to be borne as between income and capital (regardless of how such items would normally or otherwise be charged to or allocated
between income and capital without such determination); to treat any dividend or other Distribution on any investment as, or apportion it between,
income and capital; in its discretion to provide reserves for depreciation, amortization, obsolescence or other purposes in respect of any Company
Property in such amounts and by such methods as it determines; to determine what constitutes net earnings, profits or surplus; to determine the method
or form in which the accounts and records of the Company shall be maintained; and to allocate to the Stockholders’ equity account less than all of the
consideration paid for Securities and to allocate the balance to paid-in capital or capital surplus.

(xi) VALUATION OF PROPERTY. To determine the value of all or any part of the Company Property and of any services, Securities, property or
other consideration to be furnished to or acquired by the Company, and to revalue all or any part of the Company Property, all in accordance with such
appraisals or other information as are reasonable, in its sole judgment.

(xii) OWNERSHIP AND VOTING POWERS. To exercise all of the rights, powers, options and privileges pertaining to the ownership of any
Mortgages, Securities, Real Estate and other Company Property to the same extent that an individual owner might, including without limitation to
vote or give any consent, request or notice or waive any notice, either in person or by proxy or power of attorney, which proxies and powers of attorney
may be for any general or special meetings or action, and may include the exercise of discretionary powers.

(xiii) OFFICERS, ETC.; DELEGATION OF POWERS. To elect, appoint or employ such officers for the Company and such committees of the
Board of Directors with such powers and duties as the Board of Directors may determine, the Company’s Bylaws provide or the MGCL requires; to
engage, employ or contract with and pay compensation to any Person (including subject to Section 9.5 hereof, any Director or Person who is an
Affiliate of any Director) as agent, representative, member of an advisory board, employee or independent contractor (including advisors, consultants,
transfer agents, registrars, underwriters, accountants, attorneys-at-law, real estate agents, property and other managers, appraisers, brokers, architects,
engineers, construction managers, general contractors or otherwise) in one or more capacities, to perform such services on such terms as the Board of
Directors may determine; to delegate to one or more Directors, officers or other Persons engaged or employed as aforesaid or to committees of the Board
of Directors, the performance of acts or other things (including granting of consents), the making of decisions and the execution of such deeds,
contracts, leases or other instruments, either in the names of the Company, the Directors or as their attorneys or otherwise, as the Board of Directors may
determine and as may be permitted by Maryland law; and to establish such committees as it may deem appropriate.

(xiv) ASSOCIATIONS. Subject to Section 9.5 hereof, to cause the Company to enter into Joint Ventures, general or limited partnerships,
participation or agency arrangements or any other lawful combinations, relationships or associations of any kind.

(xv) REORGANIZATIONS, ETC. Subject to Sections 10.2 and 10.3 hereof, to cause to be organized or assist in organizing any Person under the
laws of any jurisdiction to acquire all or any part of the Company Property, carry on any business in which the Company shall have an interest or
otherwise exercise the powers the Board of Directors deems necessary, useful or desirable to carry on the business of the Company or to carry out the
provisions of this Charter, to merge or consolidate the Company with any Person; to sell, rent, lease, hire, convey, negotiate, assign, exchange or
transfer all or any part of the Company Property to or with any Person in exchange for Securities of such Person or otherwise; and to lend money to,
subscribe for and purchase the Securities of, and enter into any contracts with, any Person in which the Company holds, or is about to acquire,
Securities or any other interests.

(xvi) INSURANCE. To purchase and pay for out of Company Property, insurance policies insuring the Stockholders, Company and the Company
Property against any and all risks, and insuring the officers, Directors, and Affiliates of the Company individually (each an
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“Insured”) against all claims and liabilities of every nature arising by reason of holding or having held any such status, office or position or by reason
of'any action alleged to have been taken or omitted by the Insured in such capacity, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify
against such claim or liability, provided that such insurance be limited to the indemnification permitted by Section 9.2 hereof in regard to any liability
or loss resulting from negligence, gross negligence, misconduct, willful misconduct or an alleged violation of federal or state securities laws. Nothing
contained herein shall preclude the Company from purchasing and paying for such types of insurance, including extended coverage liability and
casualty and workers’ compensation, as would be customary for any Person owning comparable assets and engaged in a similar business, or from
naming the Insured as an additional insured party thereunder, provided that such addition does not add to the premiums payable by the Company. The
Board of Directors’ power to purchase and pay for such insurance policies shall be limited to policies that comply with all applicable state laws and the
NASAA REIT Guidelines.

(xvii) DISTRIBUTIONS. To declare and pay dividends or other Distributions to Stockholders, subject to the provisions of Sections 7.2 and 7.3
hereof.

(xviii) DISCONTINUE OPERATIONS; BANKRUPTCY. To discontinue the operations of the Company (subject to Section 10.2 hereof); to
petition or apply for relief under any provision of federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization laws or similar laws for the relief of debtors;
to permit any Company Property to be foreclosed upon without raising any legal or equitable defenses that may be available to the Company or the
Directors or otherwise defending or responding to such foreclosure; to confess judgment against the Trust (as hereinafter defined); or to take such other
action with respect to indebtedness or other obligations of the Directors, in their capacities as Directors, the Company Property or the Company as the
Board of Directors in its discretion may determine.

(xix) TERMINATION OF STATUS. To terminate the status of the Company as a REIT under the REIT Provisions of the Code; provided,
however, that the Board of Directors shall take no action to terminate the Company’s status as a real estate investment trust under the REIT Provisions
of the Code until such time as (i) the Board of Directors adopts a resolution recommending that the Company terminate its status as a REIT under the
REIT Provisions of the Code, (ii) the Board of Directors presents the resolution at an annual or special meeting of the Stockholders and (iii) such
resolution is approved by the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

(xx) FISCAL YEAR. Subject to the Code, to adopt, and from time to time change, a fiscal year for the Company.

(xxi) SEAL. To adopt and use a seal, but the use of a seal shall not be required for the execution of instruments or obligations of the Company.

(xxii) BYLAWS. To adopt, implement and from time to time alter, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company relating to the business and
organization of the Company, provided that such amendments are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, and further provided that the
Directors may not amend the Bylaws, without the affirmative vote of a majority of the Equity Shares, to the extent that such amendments adversely
affect the rights, preferences and privileges of Stockholders.

(xxiii) LISTING SHARES. To cause the listing of the Shares at any time after completion of the Initial Public Offering.

(xxiv) FURTHER POWERS. To do all other acts and things and execute and deliver all instruments incident to the foregoing powers, and to

exercise all powers which it deems necessary, useful or desirable to carry on the business of the Company or to carry out the provisions of this Charter,
even if such powers are not specifically provided hereby.

SECTION 3.3 DETERMINATION OF BEST INTEREST OF COMPANY. In determining what is in the best interest of the Company, a Director shall
consider the interests of the Stockholders of the Company and, in his or her sole and absolute discretion, may consider the effects of any proposed actions on
(i) the interests of the Company’s employees, suppliers, creditors and customers, (ii) the economy of the nation, (iii) community and societal interests, and
(iv) the long-term as well as short-term interests of the Company and its Stockholders, including the possibility that these interests may be best served by the
continued independence of the Company.

ARTICLE IV
[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
ARTICLE V
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND LIMITATIONS

SECTION 5.1 INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES. The Company’s primary investment objectives are: (i) to preserve, protect and return the Invested Capital
of the Stockholders; (ii) to maximize cash available for Distribution; and (iii) to realize capital appreciation upon the ultimate Sale of the Company’s
Properties. The sheltering from tax of income from other sources is not an objective of the Company. Subject to the restrictions set forth herein, the Directors
will use their best efforts to conduct the affairs of the Company in such a manner as to continue to qualify the Company for the tax treatment provided in the
REIT Provisions of the Code; provided, however, no Director, officer, employee or agent of the Company shall be liable for any act or omission resulting in
the loss of tax benefits under the Code, except to the extent provided in Section 9.2 hereof.

8



SECTION 5.2 REVIEW OF OBJECTIVES. The Independent Directors shall review the investment policies of the Company with sufficient frequency
and at least annually to determine that the policies being followed by the Company at any time are in the best interests of its Stockholders. Each such
determination and the basis therefor shall be set forth in the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 5.3 CERTAIN PERMITTED INVESTMENTS.
(i) The Company may invest in Properties, as defined in Section 1.5 hereto.

(i) The Company may invest in Joint Ventures with one or more Directors or any Affiliate, if a majority of Directors (including a majority of
Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction, approve such investment as being fair and reasonable to the Company and on
substantially the same terms and conditions as those received by the other joint venturers.

(iii) Subject to any limitations in Section 5.4(vii), the Company may invest in equity Securities if a majority of Directors (including a majority of
Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction approve such investment as being fair, competitive and commercially reasonable.

SECTION 5.4 INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS. In addition to other investment restrictions imposed by the Directors from time to time, consistent with
the Company’s objective of qualifying as a REIT, the following shall apply to the Company’s investments:

(i) Not more than 10% of the Company’s total assets shall be invested in Unimproved Real Property or mortgage loans on Unimproved Real
Property.

(i1) The Company shall not invest in commodities or commodity future contracts. This limitation is not intended to apply to futures contracts,
when used solely for hedging purposes in connection with the Company’s ordinary business of investing in real estate Assets and Mortgages.

(iii) The Company shall not invest in or make mortgage loans unless an appraisal is obtained concerning the underlying Property except for
those loans insured or guaranteed by a government or government agency. Mortgage indebtedness on any Property shall not exceed such Property’s
appraised value. In cases in which a majority of Independent Directors so determine, and in all cases in which the transaction is with the Directors or
any Affiliates, such appraisal of the underlying Property must be obtained from an Independent Expert. Such appraisal shall be maintained in the
Company’s records for at least five (5) years and shall be available for inspection and duplication by any Stockholder. In addition to the appraisal, a
mortgagee’s or owner’s title insurance policy or commitment as to the priority of the Mortgage or condition of the title must be obtained.

(iv) The Company shall not make or invest in mortgage loans, including construction loans, on any one (1) Property if the aggregate amount of
all mortgage loans outstanding on the Property, including the loans of the Company, would exceed an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) of
the appraised value of the Property as determined by appraisal unless substantial justification exists because of the presence of other underwriting
criteria. For purposes of this subsection, the “aggregate amount of all Mortgage Loans outstanding on the Property, including the loans of the
Company” shall include all interest (excluding contingent participation in income and/or appreciation in value of the mortgaged Property), the current
payment of which may be deferred pursuant to the terms of such loans, to the extent that deferred interest on each loan exceeds five percent (5%) per
annum of the principal balance of the loan.

(v) The Company shall not invest in indebtedness (“Junior Debt”) secured by a Mortgage on Real Property which is subordinate to the lien or
other indebtedness (“Senior Debt”), except where such amount of such Junior Debt, plus the outstanding amount of Senior Debt, does not exceed 90%
of the appraised value of such Property, if after giving effect thereto, the value of all such mortgage loans of the Company (as shown on the books of
the Company in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, after all reasonable reserves but before provision for depreciation) would
not then exceed 25% of the Company’s Net Assets. The value of all investments in Junior Debt of the Company which does not meet the
aforementioned requirements shall be limited to 10% of the Company’s tangible assets (which would be included within the 25% limitation).

(vi) The Company shall not make or invest in any mortgage loans that are subordinate to any mortgage, other indebtedness or equity interest of
the Directors or an Affiliate of the Company. In addition, the Company shall not invest in any security of any entity holding investments or engaging
in activities prohibited by this Charter.

(vii) The Company shall not underwrite the Securities of other issuers. In addition, the Company shall not invest in Securities of other issuers,
except for investments in Joint Ventures as described herein, unless a majority of the Directors (including a majority of Independent Directors) not
otherwise interested in such transaction approve the transaction as being fair, competitive and commercially reasonable.
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(viii) The Company shall not issue (A) equity Securities redeemable solely at the option of the holder (except that Stockholders may offer their
Common Shares to the Company pursuant to that certain redemption plan adopted or to be adopted by the Board of Directors on terms outlined in the
section relating to Common Shares entitled “Share Repurchase Program” in the Company’s Prospectus relating to the Initial Public Offering); (B) debt
Securities unless the historical debt service coverage (in the most recently completed fiscal year) as adjusted for known changes is sufficient to
properly service that higher level of debt; (C) Equity Shares on a deferred payment basis or under similar arrangements; (D) non-voting or non-
assessable Securities; (E) options, warrants, or similar evidences of a right to buy its Securities (collectively, “Options”) unless (1) issued to all of its
Stockholders ratably, (2) as part of a financing arrangement, or (3) as part of a stock option plan available to Directors, officers or employees of the
Company. Options may not be issued to the Directors or any Affiliate thereof, who are not also officers or employees of the Company, except on the
same terms as such Options are sold to the general public. Options may be issued to Persons other than the Directors or any Affiliate thereof but, except
for options which may be issued to officers or employees of the Company, not at exercise prices less than the fair market value of the underlying
Securities on the date of grant and not for consideration that in the judgment of the Independent Directors has a market value less than the value of
such Option on the date of grant. Options issuable to the Directors or any Affiliate thereof shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding Shares on the date
of grant. The voting rights per share of Equity Shares of the Company (other than the publicly held Equity Shares of the Company) sold in a private
offering shall not exceed the voting rights which bear the same relationship to the voting rights of the publicly held Equity Shares as the consideration
paid to the Company for each privately offered Equity Share of the Company bears to the book value of each outstanding publicly held Equity Share.

(ix) A majority of the Directors shall authorize the consideration to be paid for each Property, based on the fair market value of the Property. If a
majority of the Independent Directors determine, or if the Property is acquired from a Director or an Affiliate thereof, such fair market value shall be
determined by a qualified independent real estate appraiser selected by the Independent Directors.

(x) The Company shall not issue senior Securities except notes to banks and other lenders and Preferred Shares.

(xi) The aggregate Leverage of the Company shall be reasonable in relation to the Net Assets of the Company and shall be reviewed by the
Directors at least quarterly. The maximum amount of such Leverage shall not exceed 50% of the Properties’ aggregate value, provided, that Leverage
on individual Properties may exceed such limit.

(xii) Directors and any Affiliates thereof shall not make loans to the Company, or to Joint Ventures in which the Company is a co-venturer, for
the purpose of acquiring Properties. Any loans to the Company by such parties for other purposes must be approved by a majority of Directors
(including a majority of Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction as fair, competitive and commercially reasonable and no less
favorable to the Company than comparable loans between unaffiliated parties.

(xiii) The Company shall not make loans to Directors, officers or any principal ofthe Company or any of their Affiliates.

(xiv) The Company shall not operate so as to be classified as an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(xv) The Company will not make any investment that the Company believes will be inconsistent with its objectives of qualifying and remaining
qualified as a REIT.

(xvi) The Company shall not invest in real estate contracts of sale unless such contracts of sale are in recordable form and appropriately recorded
in the chain of'title.

The foregoing investment limitations may not be modified or eliminated without the approval of Stockholders owning a majority of the outstanding
Equity Shares and a majority of the Independent Directors not otherwise interested in the transaction.

ARTICLE VI
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

SECTION 6.1 SALES AND LEASES TO COMPANY. The Company may purchase or lease a Property or Properties from a Director or any Affiliate upon
a finding by a majority of Directors (including a majority of Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction that such transaction is
competitive and commercially reasonable to the Company and at a price to the Company no greater than the cost of the Asset to such Director or Affiliate, or,
if the price to the Company is in excess of such cost, that substantial justification for such excess exists and such excess is reasonable and only if the
possibility of such acquisition(s) is disclosed, and there is appropriate disclosure of the material facts concerning each such investment. In no event shall the
cost of such Asset to the Company exceed its current appraised value.

SECTION 6.2 SALES AND LEASES TO THE DIRECTORS OR AFFILIATES. A Director or Affiliate may purchase or lease a Property or Properties from
the Company if a majority of Directors (including a majority of Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction determine that the
transaction is fair and reasonable to the Company.
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SECTION 6.3 OTHER TRANSACTIONS. The Company shall not make loans to a Director or any Affiliate thereof. Directors and any Affiliates thereof
shall not make loans to the Company, or to Joint Ventures in which the Company is a co-venturer, for the purpose of acquiring Properties. Any loans to the
Company by such parties for other purposes must be approved by a majority of the Directors (including a majority of the Independent Directors) not
otherwise interested in such transaction as fair, competitive, and commercially reasonable, and no less favorable to the Company than comparable loans
between unaffiliated parties.

ARTICLE VII
SHARES

SECTION 7.1 AUTHORIZED SHARES. The total number of shares of capital stock which the Company is authorized to issue is one billion
(1,000,000,000), consisting of seven hundred fifty million (750,000,000) Common Shares (as described in Section 7.2 hereof), one hundred million
(100,000,000) Preferred Shares (as described in Section 7.3 hereof) and one hundred fifty million (150,000,000) Shares-in-Trust (as described in Section 7.8
hereof). All shares of capital stock shall be fully paid and nonassessable when issued. Equity Shares may be issued for such consideration as the Directors
determine, or if issued as a result of a stock dividend or stock split, without any consideration. If shares of one class or series of stock are classified or
reclassified into shares of another class or series of stock pursuant to Sections 7.2(ii) or 7.3 of this Article VII, the number of authorized shares of the former
class shall be automatically decreased and the number of shares of the latter class shall be automatically increased, in each case by the number of shares so
classified or reclassified, so that the aggregate number of shares of stock of all classes that the Company has authority to issue shall not be more than the total
number of shares of stock set forth in the first sentence of this Section 7.1. The Board of Directors, with the approval of a majority of the Directors and without
any action on the part of the Stockholders of the Company, may amend this Charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares
of'stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that the Company has the authority to issue.

SECTION 7.2 COMMON SHARES.

(i) COMMON SHARES SUBJECT TO TERMS OF PREFERRED SHARES. The Common Shares shall be subject to the express terms of any class
or series of Preferred Shares.

(ii) DESCRIPTION. Common Shares shall have a par value of $.01 per share and shall entitle the holders to one (1) vote per share on all matters
upon which Stockholders are entitled to vote pursuant to Section 8.2 hereof, and Shares of a particular class of issued Common Shares shall have equal
dividend, Distribution, liquidation and other rights, and shall have no preference, cumulative, preemptive, conversion or exchange rights over other
Shares of that same particular class. The Board of Directors is hereby authorized, from time to time, to classify or reclassify and issue any unissued
Common Shares by setting or changing the number, designation, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to
dividends and other Distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption of any such Common Shares and, in such event, the Company
shall file for record with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of the State of Maryland articles supplementary in substance and form as
prescribed by Title 2 ofthe MGCL.

(iii) DIVIDEND OR DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS. The Board of Directors from time to time may authorize and the Company may pay to
Stockholders of such dividends or Distributions in cash or other property as the Board of Directors in its discretion shall determine. The Board of
Directors shall endeavor to authorize and the Company may pay such dividends and Distributions as shall be necessary for the Company to qualify asa
REIT under the REIT Provisions of the Code; provided, however, Stockholders shall have no right to any dividend or Distribution unless and until
declared by the Company. The exercise of the powers and rights of the Board of Directors pursuant to this Section shall be subject to the provisions of
any class or series of Equity Shares at the time outstanding. The receipt by any Person in whose name any Equity Shares are registered on the records of
the Company or by his or her duly authorized agent shall be a sufficient discharge for all dividends or Distributions payable or deliverable in respect of
such Equity Shares and from all liability to see to the application thereof. Distributions in kind shall not be permitted, except for Distributions of
readily marketable Securities and Distributions of beneficial interests in a liquidating trust established for the dissolution of the Company and the
liquidation ofits Assets in accordance with the terms of this Charter.

(iv) RIGHTS UPON LIQUIDATION. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any Distribution of
the assets of the Company, the aggregate assets available for Distribution to holders of the Common Shares (including holders of Shares-in-Trust
resulting from the exchange of Common Shares pursuant to Section 7.7(iii) hereof) shall be determined in accordance with applicable law. Subject to
Section 7.8(iii) hereof, each holder of Common Shares shall be entitled to receive, ratably with (i) each other holder of Common Shares and (ii) each
holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares, that portion of such aggregate assets available for Distribution to the holders
of the Common Shares as the number of the outstanding Common Shares held by such holder bears to the total number of outstanding Common Shares
and Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares then outstanding. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event
shall the amount payable to a holder of Shares-in-Trust exceed (i) the price per share such holder paid for the Common Shares in the purported Transfer
or Acquisition (as those terms are defined in Section 7.7(i)) or change in capital structure or other transaction or event that resulted in the Shares-in-
Trust or (ii) if the holder did not give full value for such Shares-in-Trust (as through a gift, a devise or other event or transaction), a price per share equal
to the Market Price (as that term is defined in Section 7.7(i)) for the Common Shares on the date of the purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in
capital structure or other transaction or event that resulted in such Shares-in-Trust. Any amount available for Distribution in excess of the foregoing
limitations shall be paid ratably to the holders of Common Shares and other holders of Shares-in- Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares
to the extent permitted by the foregoing limitations.
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(v) VOTING RIGHTS. Except as may be provided otherwise in this Charter, and subject to the express terms of any series of Preferred Shares, the
holders of the Common Shares shall have the exclusive right to vote on all matters (as to which a common Stockholder shall be entitled to vote
pursuant to applicable law) at all meetings of the Stockholders of the Company, and shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each Common Share entitled to
vote at such meeting.

SECTION 7.3 PREFERRED SHARES. The Board of Directors is hereby expressly granted the authority to authorize, from time to time, the issuance of
one or more series of Preferred Shares. Prior to the issuance of each such class or series, the Board of Directors, by resolution, shall fix the number of shares to
be included in each series, and the designation, preferences, terms, rights, restrictions, limitations and qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption
of'the shares of each class or series. The authority of the Board of Directors with respect to each series shall include, but not be limited to, determination of the
following:

(i) the designation of the series, which may be by distinguishing number, letter or title;

(ii) the dividend rate on the shares of the series, if any, whether any dividends shall be cumulative and, if so, from which date or dates, and the
relative rights of priority, if any, of payment of dividends with respect to shares of the series;

(iii) the redemption rights, including conditions and the price or prices, if any, for shares of the series;
(iv) the terms and amounts of any sinking fund for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series;

(v) the rights of the shares of the series in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the
Company, and the relative rights of priority, if any, of payment of Distributions with respect to shares of the series;

(vi) whether the shares of the series shall be convertible into shares of any other class or series or any other security of the Company or any other
corporation or other entity and, if so, the specification of such other class or series of such other security, the conversion price or prices or rate or rates,
any adjustments thereof, the date or dates on which such shares shall be convertible and all other terms and conditions upon which such conversion
may be made;

(vii) restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of any other class or series;

(viii) the voting rights of the holders of shares of the series subject to the limitations contained in this Section 7.3; provided, however, that the
voting rights of the holders of shares of any series of Preferred Shares shall not exceed the voting rights of the holders of Common Shares; and

(ix) any other relative rights, preferences and limitations on that series. Subject to the express provisions of any other series of Preferred Shares
then outstanding, and notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, the Board of Directors may increase or decrease (but not below the number
of shares of such series then outstanding) the number of shares, or alter the designation or classify or reclassify any unissued shares of a particular series
of Preferred Shares, by fixing or altering, in one or more respects, from time to time before issuing the shares, the terms, rights, restrictions and
qualifications of the shares of any such series of Preferred Shares and, in such event, the Company shall file for record with the State Department of
Assessments and Taxation of Maryland articles supplementary in substance and form as prescribed by Section 2-208 ofthe MGCL.

SECTION 7.4 GENERAL NATURE OF SHARES. All Shares shall be personal property entitling the Stockholders only to those rights provided in this
Charter, the MGCL or in the resolution creating any class or series of Shares. The legal ownership of the Company Property and the right to conduct the
business of the Company are vested exclusively in the Directors; the Stockholders shall have no interest therein other than the beneficial interest in the
Company conferred by their Shares and shall have no right to compel any partition, division, dividend or Distribution of the Company or any of the
Company Property. The death of a Stockholder shall not terminate the Company or give his or her legal representative any rights against other Stockholders,
the Directors or the Company Property, except the right, exercised in accordance with applicable provisions of the Bylaws, to require the Company to reflect
on its books the change in ownership of the Shares. Holders of Shares shall not have any preemptive or other right to purchase or subscribe for any class of
Securities of the Company which the Company may at any time issue or sell.

SECTION 7.5 NO ISSUANCE OF SHARE CERTIFICATES. The Company shall not be required to issue share certificates except to Stockholders who
make a written request therefor to the Company. A Stockholder’s investment shall be recorded on the books of the Company. To transfer his or her Shares a
Stockholder shall submit an executed form to the Company, which form shall be provided by the Company upon a request therefor. Such transfer will also be
recorded on the books of the Company. Upon issuance or transfer of Shares, the Company will provide the Stockholder with information concerning his or
her rights with regard to such stock, in a form substantially similar to Section 7.7(xii), and as required by the Bylaws and the MGCL or other applicable law.
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SECTION 7.6 SUITABILITY OF STOCKHOLDERS

(1) INVESTOR SUITABILITY STANDARDS. Subject to suitability standards established by individual states, to become a Stockholder in the
Company, if such prospective Stockholder is an individual (including an individual beneficiary of a purchasing Individual Retirement Account), or if
the prospective Stockholder is a fiduciary (such as a trustee of a trust or corporate pension or profit sharing plan, or other tax-exempt organization, or a
custodian under a Uniform Gifts to Minors Act), such individual or fiduciary, as the case may be, must represent to the Company, among other
requirements as the Company may require from time to time:

(a) that such individual (or, in the case of a fiduciary, that the fiduciary account or the donor who directly or indirectly supplies the funds
to purchase the Shares) has a minimum annual gross income of $45,000 and a net worth (excluding home, furnishings and automobiles) of not
less than $45,000; or

(b) that such individual (og, in the case of a fiduciary, that the fiduciary account or the donor who directly or indirectly supplies the funds
to purchase the Shares) has a net worth (excluding home, furnishings and automobiles) of not less than $150,000.

(i1) DETERMINATION OF SUITABILITY OF SALE. Each Person selling Shares on behalf of the Company shall make every reasonable effort to
determine that the purchase of Shares is a suitable and appropriate investment for each Stockholder. In making this determination, each Person selling
Shares on behalf of the Company shall ascertain that the prospective Stockholder: (a) meets the minimum income and net worth standards established
for the Company; (b) can reasonably benefit from the Company based on the prospective Stockholder’s overall investment objectives and portfolio
structure; (c) is able to bear the economic risk of the investment based on the prospective Stockholder’s overall financial situation; and (d) has apparent
understanding of: (1) the fundamental risks of the investment; (2) the risk that the Stockholder may lose the entire investment; (3) the lack of liquidity
of Company Shares; (4) the restrictions on transferability of Company Shares; and (5) the tax consequences of the investment.

Each Person selling shares on behalf of the Company shall make this determination on the basis of information it has obtained from a prospective
Stockholder. Relevant information for this purpose will include at least the age, investment objectives, investment experiences, income, net worth, financial
situation, and other investments of the prospective Stockholder, as well as any other pertinent factors.

Each Person selling Shares on behalf of the Company shall maintain records of the information used to determine that an investment in Shares is
suitable and appropriate for a Stockholder. Each Person selling Shares on behalf of the Company shall maintain these records for at least six years.

(iii) MINIMUM INVESTMENT. Subject to certain individual state requirements, except for sales pursuant to the Company’s Reinvestment Plan
(as defined in Section 7.13), no sale or transfer of Shares will be permitted of less than 100 Shares, and a Stockholder shall not transfer, fractionalize or
subdivide such Shares so as to retain less than such minimum number thereof.

SECTION 7.7 RESTRICTIONS ON OWNERSHIP AND TRANSFER.
(i) DEFINITIONS. For purposes of Sections 7.7 and 7.8, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“ACQUIRE” means the acquisition of Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares by any means, including, without limitation, the exercise
of any rights under any option, warrant, convertible security, pledge or other security interest or similar right to acquire Shares, but shall not include the
acquisition of any such rights unless, as a result, the acquirer would be considered a Beneficial Owner or Constructive Owner. The terms “Acquires” and
“Acquisition” shall have correlative meanings.

“BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP” means ownership of Shares by a Person who would be treated as an owner of such Shares under Section 542(a)(2) of the
Code, either directly or constructively through the application of Section 544 of the Code, as modified by Section 856(h)(1)(B) and 856(h)(3) of the Code.
For purposes of this definition, the term “individual” shall include any organization, trust, or other entity that is treated as an individual for purposes of
Section 542(a)(2) of the Code. The terms “Beneficial Owner,” “Beneficially Owns,” “Beneficially Own” and “Beneficially Owned” shall have correlative
meanings.

“BENEFICIARY” means a beneficiary of the Trust as determined pursuant to Section 7.8(v)(a) hereof.

“BUSINESS DAY” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which banking institutions in the State
of New York are authorized or required by law or regulation or executive order to close.

“COMMON SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMIT” means, with respect to the Common Shares, 9.8% of the outstanding Common Shares, subject to adjustment
pursuant to Section 7.7(x) (but not more than 9.9% of the outstanding Common Shares, as so adjusted) and to any other limitations contained in this
Section 7.7.

“CONSTRUCTIVE OWNERSHIP” means ownership of Equity Shares by a Person who could be treated as an owner of such shares, either actually or
constructively, directly or indirectly, (including a nominee) through the application of Section 318(a) of the Code, as modified by Section 856(d)(5) thereof.
The terms “Constructive Owner,” “Constructively Owns,” “Constructively Own” and “Constructively Owned” shall have correlative meanings.
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“MARKET PRICE” means, on any date, with respect to any class or series of outstanding shares of Equity Share the average of the Closing Price for
such Equity Shares for the five (5) consecutive Trading Days ending on such date. The “Closing Price” on any date means the last sale price for such Equity
Shares, regular way, or, in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, in either case as reported in
the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to Securities listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE or, if the Equity Shares are not
listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE, as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to Securities listed on the
principal national securities exchange on which the Equity Shares are listed or admitted to trading or, if the Equity Shares are not listed or admitted to trading
on any national securities exchange, the last quoted price, or if not so quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter
market, as reported by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (NASDAQ) or, if such system is no longer in use, the principal other automated quotations system
that may then be in use or, if the Equity Shares are not quoted by any such organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by a
professional market maker making a market in the Equity Shares selected by the Board of Directors, or, if no such market maker exists, as determined in good
faith by the Board of Directors.

“OWNERSHIP LIMIT” means the Common Share Ownership Limit or the Preferred Share Ownership Limit, or both, as the context may require.

“PREFERRED SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMIT” means, with respect to the Preferred Shares, 9.8% of the outstanding Shares of a particular series of
Preferred Shares of the Company, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 7.7(x) (but not more than 9.9% of the outstanding Preferred Shares, as so
adjusted) and to any other limitations contained in this Section 7.7.

“PURPORTED BENEFICIAL HOLDER” means, with respect to any purported Transfer or Acquisition or other event or transaction which results in
Shares-in-Trust, the Person for whom the applicable Purported Record Holder held the Equity Shares that were, pursuant to paragraph (iii) of this Section 7.7,
automatically exchanged for Shares-in-Trust upon the occurrence of such event or transaction. The Purported Beneficial Holder and the Purported Record
Holder may be the same Person.

“PURPORTED BENEFICIAL TRANSFEREE” means, with respect to any purported Transfer or Acquisition or other event or transaction which results
in Shares-in-Trust, the purported beneficial transferee for whom the Purported Record Transferee would have acquired Equity Shares if such Transfer or
Acquisition which results in Shares-in-Trust had been valid under Section 7.7(ii). The Purported Beneficial Transferee and the Purported Record Transferee
may be the same Person.

“PURPORTED RECORD HOLDER” means, with respect to any purported Transfer or Acquisition or other event or transaction which results in Shares-
in-Trust, the record holder of the Equity Shares that were, pursuant to Section 7.7(iii), automatically exchanged for Shares-in-Trust upon the occurrence of
such an event or transaction. The Purported Record Holder and the Purported Beneficial Holder may be the same Person.

“PURPORTED RECORD TRANSFEREE” means, with respect to any purported Transfer or Acquisition or other event or transaction which results in
Shares-in-Trust, the record holder of the Equity Shares if such Transfer or Acquisition which results in Shares-in-Trust had been valid under Section 7.7(ii).
The Purported Record Transferee and the Purported Beneficial Transferee may be the same Person.

“RESTRICTION TERMINATION DATE” means the first day after the date of the closing of the Initial Public Offering on which the Board of Directors
of'the Company determines, pursuant to Section 3.2(xix) hereof, that it is no longer in the best interests of the Company to attempt or continue to qualify as a
REIT.

“SHARES-IN-TRUST” means those shares into which Equity Shares are automatically exchanged as a result of a purported Transfer, Acquisition,
change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported change in the Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or
transaction, as described in Section 7.7(iii).

“TRADING DAY” means (i) a day on which the principal national securities exchange on which the affected class or series of Equity Shares is listed or
admitted to trading is open for the transaction of business, or (ii) if the affected class or series of Equity Shares is not so listed or admitted to trading, any day
other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in the State of New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to
close.

“TRANSFER” means any sale, transfer, gift, hypothecation, assignment, devise or other disposition of a direct or indirect interest in Equity Shares or
the right to vote or receive dividends on Equity Shares, including without limitation (i) the granting of any option (including any option to acquire an option
or any series of such options) or entering into any agreement for the sale, transfer or other disposition of Equity Shares or the right to vote or receive
dividends on Equity Shares or (ii) the sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of any Securities or rights convertible into or exchangeable for Equity
Shares, whether voluntary or involuntary, of record, constructively or beneficially, and whether by operation of law or otherwise. The terms “Transfers,”
“Transferred” and “Transferable” shall have correlative meanings.

“TRUST” means the trust created pursuant to Section 7.8(i) hereof.



“TRUSTEE” means the trustee of the Trust, as appointed by the Company, or any successor trustee thereof, which Trustee shall not be an Affiliate of
the Company, or of the Purported Record Holder, the Purported Beneficial Holder, the Purported Record Transferee, or the Purported Beneficial Transferee.

(i1)) OWNERSHIP AND TRANSFER LIMITATIONS.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, except as provided in Section 7.7(ix) and subject to Section 7.9, from the date of
the Initial Public Offering and prior to the Restriction Termination Date, no Person shall Beneficially or Constructively Own Equity Shares in
excess of the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limits.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, except as provided in Section 7.7(ix) and subject to Section 7.9, from the date of
the Initial Public Offering and prior to the Restriction Termination Date, any Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the
Company, other purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or transaction that, if effective, would
result in any Person Beneficially or Constructively Owning Equity Shares in excess of the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limits shall be
void AB INITIO as to the Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported change in Beneficial or
Constructive Ownership or other event or transaction with respect to that number of Equity Shares which would otherwise be Beneficially or
Constructively Owned by such Person in excess of the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limits, and none of the Purported Beneficial
Transferee, the Purported Record Transferee, the Purported Beneficial Holder or the Purported Record Holder shall Acquire any rights in that
number of Equity Shares.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, subject to Section 7.9, from the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to the
Restriction Termination Date, any Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, or other purported change in Beneficial
or Constructive Ownership (including actual ownership) of Equity Shares or other event or transaction that, if effective, would result in the
Equity Shares being actually owned by fewer than 100 Persons (determined without reference to any rules of attribution) shall be void AB
INITIO as to the Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported change in Beneficial or Constructive
Ownership (including actual ownership) with respect to that number of Equity Shares which otherwise would be owned by the transferee, and the
intended transferee or subsequent owner (including a Beneficial Owner or Constructive Owner) shall acquire no rights in that number of Equity
Shares.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, subject to Section 7.9, from the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to the
Restriction Termination Date, any Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported change in Beneficial or
Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or transaction that, if effective, would cause the Company to fail to qualify as a REIT by
reason of being “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise, directly or indirectly, would cause the Company
to fail to qualify as a REIT shall be void AB INITIO as to the Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other
purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership or other event or transaction with respect to that number of Equity Shares which
would cause the Company to be “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise, directly or indirectly, would
cause the Company to fail to qualify as a REIT, and none of the Purported Beneficial Transferee, the Purported Record Transferee, the Purported
Beneficial Holder or the Purported Record Holder shall acquire any rights in that number of Equity Shares.

(e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, subject to Section 7.9, from the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to the
Restriction Termination Date, any Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure of the Company, or other purported change in Beneficial or
Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or transaction that, if effective, would (i) cause the Company to own (directly or
Constructively) an interest in a tenant or the Operating Partnership’s real property that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code and
(ii) cause the Company to fail to satisfy any of the gross income requirements of Section 856(c) of the Code, shall be void AB INITIO as to the
Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure of the Company, other purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership or other
event or transaction with respect to that number of Equity Shares which would cause the Company to own an interest (directly or Constructively)
in a tenant or the Operating Partnership’s real property that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code, and none of the Purported
Beneficial Transferee, the Purported Record Transferee, the Purported Beneficial Holder or the Purported Record Holder shall acquire any rights
in that number of Equity Shares.

(iii)) EXCHANGE FOR SHARES-IN-TRUST.

(a) If, notwithstanding the other provisions contained in this Article VII, at any time from the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to
the Restriction Termination Date, there is a purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported
change in the Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or transaction such that any Person would either Beneficially
or Constructively Own Equity Shares in excess of the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limit, then, except as otherwise provided in
Section 7.7(ix), such Equity Shares (rounded up to the next whole number of shares) in excess of the Common or Preferred Share Ownership
Limit automatically shall be exchanged for an equal number of Shares-in-Trust having terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications identical
thereto, except to the extent that this Article VII requires different terms. Such exchange shall be effective as of the close of business on the
Business Day next preceding the date of the purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure, other purported change in Beneficial or
Constructive Ownership of Shares, or other event or transaction.
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(b) If, notwithstanding the other provisions contained in this Article VI, at any time after the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to
the Restriction Termination Date, there is a purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported
change in the Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity Shares or other event or transaction which, if effective, would result in a violation
of any of the restrictions described in subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of paragraph (ii) of this Section 7.7, or otherwise, directly or indirectly,
would cause the Company to fail to qualify as a REIT, then the Shares (rounded up to the next whole number of Shares) purportedly being
Transferred or Acquired or which are otherwise affected by the change in capital structure or other purported change in Beneficial or
Constructive Ownership and which, in any case, would result in a violation of any of the restrictions described in subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and
(e) of paragraph (ii) of this Section 7.7 or otherwise would cause the Company to fail to qualify as a REIT automatically shall be exchanged for
an equal number of Shares-in-Trust having terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications identical thereto, except to the extent that this Article VII
requires different terms. Such exchange shall be effective as of the close of business on the Business Day prior to the date of the purported
Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure, other purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership or other event or transaction.

(iv) REMEDIES FOR BREACH. If the Board of Directors, a duly authorized committee thereof or other designee, if permitted by the MGCL,
shall at any time determine in good faith that a purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company or other purported
change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership or other event or transaction has taken place in violation of Section 7.7(ii) or that a Person intends to
Acquire or has attempted to Acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of any Equity Shares in violation of this Section 7.7, the Board of Directors
or a committee thereof or other designee shall take such action as it deems advisable to refuse to give effect to or to prevent such Transfer, Acquisition,
change in the capital structure of the Company, other attempt to Acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of any Shares or other event or
transaction, including, but not limited to, refusing to give effect thereto on the books of the Company or instituting injunctive proceedings with
respect thereto; provided, however, that any Transfer, Acquisition, change in the capital structure of the Company, attempted Transfer or other attempt
to Acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of any Equity Shares or other event or transaction in violation of subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of
Section 7.7(ii) (as applicable) shall be void AB INITIO and where applicable automatically shall result in the exchange described in Section 7.7(iii),
irrespective of any action (or inaction) by the Board of Directors or its designee.

(v) NOTICE OF RESTRICTED TRANSFER. Any Person who Acquires or attempts to Acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Equity
Shares that will or may violate Section 7.7(ii) and any Person who Beneficially or Constructively Owns Shares-in-Trust as a transferee of Equity Shares
resulting in an exchange for Shares-in-Trust, pursuant to Section 7.7(iii) or otherwise, shall immediately give written notice to the Company, or, in the
event of a proposed or attempted Transfer, Acquisition, or purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership, shall give at least fifteen
(15) days prior written notice to the Company, of such event and shall promptly provide to the Company such other information as the Company, in its
sole discretion, may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such Transfer, proposed or attempted Transfer, Acquisition, proposed or
attempted Acquisition or purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership on the Company’s status as a REIT.

(vi) OWNERS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE INFORMATION. From the date of the Initial Public Offering and prior to the Restriction Termination
Date:

(a) Every Beneficial or Constructive Owner of more than five percent (5%), or such lower percentages as determined pursuant to
regulations under the Code or as may be requested by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, of the outstanding shares of any class or series
of Equity Shares of the Company shall annually, no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each taxable year, give written notice to the
Company stating (1) the name and address of such Beneficial or Constructive Owner; (2) the number of shares of each class or series of Equity
Shares Beneficially or Constructively Owned; and (3) a description of how such shares are held. Each such Beneficial or Constructive Owner
promptly shall provide to the Company such additional information as the Company, in its sole discretion, may request in order to determine the
effect, if any, of such Beneficial or Constructive Ownership on the Company’s status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the Common or
Preferred Share Ownership Limit and other restrictions set forth herein.

(b) Each Person who is a Beneficial or Constructive Owner of Equity Shares and each Person (including the Stockholder of record) who is
holding Equity Shares for a Beneficial or Constructive Owner promptly shall provide to the Company such information as the Company, in its
sole discretion, may request in order to determine the Company’s status as a REIT, to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or
other governmental agency, to determine any such compliance or to ensure compliance with the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limits
and other restrictions set forth herein.

(vii) REMEDIES NOT LIMITED. Subject to Section 7.9, nothing contained in this Article VII shall limit the scope or application of the
provisions of this Section 7.7, the ability of the Company to implement or enforce compliance with the terms hereof or the authority of the Board of
Directors to take any such other action or actions as it may deem necessary or advisable to protect the Company and the interests of its Stockholders by
preservation of the Company’s status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the Ownership Limit for any class or series of Equity Shares and other
restrictions set forth herein, including, without limitation, refusal to give effect to a transaction on the books of the Company.

(viii) AMBIGUITY. In the case of an ambiguity in the application of any of the provisions of this Section 7.7, including any definition contained
in Sections 1.5 and 7.7(i), the Board of Directors shall have the power and authority, in its sole discretion, to determine the application of the
provisions of this Section 7.7 with respect to any situation based on the facts known to it.
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(ix) WAIVERS BY BOARD. Upon notice of an Acquisition or Transfer or a proposed Acquisition or Transfer which results or would result in the
intended transferee having Beneficial Ownership of shares in excess of the Ownership Limit, the Board of Directors may, upon receipt of evidence
deemed to be satisfactory by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, that such Acquisition or Transfer does not or will not violate the “closely
held” provisions of Section 856(h) of the Code, waive the Ownership Limit with respect to such transferee upon such conditions as the Board of
Directors may direct.

(x) INCREASE IN COMMON OR PREFERRED SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMIT. Subject to the limitations contained in Section 7.7(xi), the Board
of Directors may from time to time increase the Common or Preferred Share Ownership Limits.

(xi) LIMITATIONS ON MODIFICATIONS.

(a) The Ownership Limit for a class or series of Equity Shares may not be increased and no additional ownership limitations may be created
if, after giving effect to such increase or creation, the Company would be “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code
(assuming ownership of shares of Equity Shares by all Persons equal to the greatest of (A) the actual ownership, (B) the Beneficial Ownership of
Equity Shares by each Person, or (C) the applicable Ownership Limit with respect to such Person).

(b) Prior to any modification of the Ownership Limit with respect to any Person, the Board of Directors may require such opinions of
counsel, affidavits, undertakings or agreements as it may deem necessary, advisable or prudent, in its sole discretion, in order to determine or
ensure the Company’s status as a REIT.

(c) Neither the Preferred Share Ownership Limit nor the Common Share Ownership Limit may be increased to a percentage that is greater
than 9.9%.

(xii) NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS UPON ISSUANCE OR TRANSFER. Upon issuance or Transfer of Shares, the Company shall provide the
recipient with a notice containing information about the shares purchased or otherwise Transferred, in lieu of issuance of a share certificate, in a form
substantially similar to the following:

“The securities issued or transferred are subject to restrictions on transfer and ownership for the purpose of maintenance of the Company’s status
as a real estate investment trust (a “REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).
Except as otherwise provided pursuant to the Charter of the Company, no Person may (i) Beneficially or Constructively Own any class of
Common Shares of the Company in excess of 9.8% (or such greater percent as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company) of
such outstanding Common Shares; (ii) Beneficially or Constructively Own shares of any class or series of Preferred Shares of the Company in
excess of 9.8% (or such greater percent as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company) of the outstanding shares of such class
or series of Preferred Shares; (iii) Transfer Common Shares or Preferred Shares if such Transfer would result in Equity Shares being actually
owned by fewer than 100 Persons; (iv) Beneficially or Constructively Own Common Shares or Preferred Shares (of any class or series) which
would result in the Company being “closely held” under Section 856(h) of the Code or which otherwise would cause the Company to fail to
qualify as a REIT; or (v) Beneficially or Constructively Own Common Shares or Preferred Shares that would cause the Company to
Constructively Own 9.9% or more of the ownership interests in a tenant of the Company’s, the Operating Partnership’s or a Subsidiary’s real

property, within the meaning of Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code. Any Person who has Beneficial or Constructive Ownership, or who Acquires or
attempts to Acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of Common Shares and/or Preferred Shares in excess of the above limitations and any
Person who Beneficially or Constructively Owns Shares-in-Trust as a transferee of Common or Preferred Shares resulting in an exchange for
Shares-in-Trust (as described below) immediately must notify the Company in writing or, in the event of a proposed or attempted Transfer or
Acquisition or purported change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership, must give written notice to the Company at least 15 days prior to the
proposed or attempted transfer, transaction or other event. Any Transfer or Acquisition of Common Shares and/or Preferred Shares or other event

which results in a violation of the ownership or transfer limitations set forth in the Company’s Charter shall be void AB INITIO, and none of the

Purported Beneficial or Record Transferees or the purported Beneficial or Record Holders shall have or acquire any rights in such Common
Shares and/or Preferred Shares. If there is a purported Transfer or Acquisition of Equity Shares which, if effective, would result in the transfer and
ownership limitations referred to herein being violated, the Common Shares or Preferred Shares purportedly Transferred or Acquired will

automatically be exchanged for Shares-in-Trust to the extent of violation of such limitations, and such Shares-in-Trust will be held in trust by a
trustee appointed by the Company, all as provided by the Charter of the Company. In addition, the Company may redeem Equity Shares upon

the terms and conditions specified by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion if the Board of Directors determines that a purported Transfer,
Acquisition or other event may violate the restrictions described above. All defined terms used in this legend have the meanings identified in the
Company’s Charter, as the same may be amended from time to time, a copy of which, including the restrictions on transfer, will be sent without

charge to each Stockholder who so requests.”

SECTION 7.8 SHARES-IN-TRUST.

(i) OWNERSHIP IN TRUST. Upon any purported Transfer or Acquisition or a change in the capital structure of the Company, other purported
change in Beneficial or Constructive Ownership or event or transaction that results in Shares-in-Trust pursuant to Section 7.7(iii), such Shares-in-Trust
shall be deemed to have been transferred to the Trust for the benefit of such Beneficiary or Beneficiaries to whom an interest in such Shares-in-Trust
may later be transferred pursuant to Section 7.8(v). Shares-in-Trust so held in trust shall be
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issued and outstanding stock of the Company. The Purported Record Transferee (or Purported Record Holder) shall have no rights in such Shares-in-
Trust. The Purported Beneficial Transferee or Purported Record Transferee shall have no rights in such Shares-in-Trust except as provided in
Section 7.8(iii).

(i1) DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS. Shares-in-Trust shall be entitled to the same rights and privileges as all other shares of the same class or series. The
Trustee will receive all Distributions and dividends on the Shares-in-Trust and will hold such dividends or Distributions in trust for the benefit of the
Beneficiary. Any dividend or Distribution with a record date on or after the date that Equity Shares have been exchanged for Shares-in-Trust which
were paid on such Equity Shares shall be repaid to the Trustee upon demand, and any such dividend or Distribution declared on such Equity Shares but
unpaid shall be paid to the Trustee to hold in trust for the benefit of the Beneficiary.

(iii) RIGHTS UPON LIQUIDATION.

(a) Except as provided below, in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any other
Distribution of the assets, of the Company, each holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares of any specified series
shall be entitled to receive, ratably with each other holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares of such series and
each holder of Preferred Shares of such series, such accrued and unpaid dividends, liquidation preferences and other preferential payments, if
any, as are due to holders of Preferred Shares of such series. In the event that holders of shares of any series of Preferred Shares are entitled to
participate in the Company’s Distribution of its residual assets, each holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares of
any such series shall be entitled to participate, ratably with (A) each other holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred
Shares of all series entitled to so participate; (B) each holder of Preferred Shares of all series entitled to so participate; and (C) each holder of
Common Shares and Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares (to the extent permitted by Section 7.7(iii) hereof), that
portion of the aggregate assets available for Distribution (determined in accordance with applicable law) as the number of shares of such Shares-
in-Trust held by such holder bears to the total number of (1) outstanding Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares of all
series entitled to so participate; (2) outstanding Preferred Shares of all series entitled to so participate; and (3) outstanding Common Shares and
Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares. The Trustee shall distribute ratably to the Beneficiaries of the Trust, when
determined, any such assets received in respect of the Shares-in-Trust in any liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any Distribution of the
assets, of the Company. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, in no event shall the amount payable to a holder with respect to
Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares exceed (A) the price per share such holder paid for the Preferred Shares in the
purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure or other transaction or event that resulted in the Shares-in-Trust or (B) if the holder
did not give full value for such Shares-in-Trust (as through a gift, devise or other event or transaction), a price per share equal to the Market Price
for the shares of Preferred Shares on the date of the purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure or other transaction or event that
resulted in such Shares-in-Trust. Any amount available for Distribution in excess of the foregoing limitations shall be paid ratably to the holders
of Preferred Shares and Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Preferred Shares to the extent permitted by the foregoing limitations.

(b) Except as provided below, in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any other
Distribution of the assets, of the Company, each holder of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares shall be entitled to
receive, ratably with (A) each other holder of such Shares-in-Trust and (B) each holder of Common Shares, that portion of the aggregate assets
available for Distribution to holders of Common Shares (including holders of Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares
pursuant to Section 7.7(iii)), determined in accordance with applicable law, as the number of such Shares-in-Trust held by such holder bears to
the total number of outstanding Common Shares and outstanding Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares then
outstanding. The Trustee shall distribute ratably to the Beneficiaries of the Shares-in-Trust, when determined, any such assets received in respect
of the Shares-in-Trust in any liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any Distribution of the assets, of the Company. Anything herein to the
contrary notwithstanding, in no event shall the amount payable to a holder with respect to Shares-in-Trust exceed (A) the price per share such
holder paid for the Equity Shares in the purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure or other transaction or event that resulted in
the Shares-in-Trust or (B) if the holder did not give full value for such Equity Shares (as through a gift, devise or other event or transaction), a
price per share equal to the Market Price for the Equity Shares on the date of the purported Transfer, Acquisition, change in capital structure or
other transaction or event that resulted in such Shares-in-Trust. Any amount available for Distribution in excess of the foregoing limitations shall
be paid ratably to the holders of Common Shares and Shares-in-Trust resulting from the exchange of Common Shares to the extent permitted by
the foregoing limitations.

(iv) VOTING RIGHTS. The Trustee shall be entitled to vote the Shares-in-Trust on any matters on which holders of Shares are entitled to vote
(except as required otherwise by the MGCL).

(v) RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER; DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARY; SALES OF SHARES-IN-TRUST.

(a) Except as described in this Section 7.8(v), Shares-in-Trust shall not be transferable. The Beneficiary shall be one or more charitable
organizations named by the Company. However, for purposes of sales by the Trustee as set forth herein, the Trustee shall designate a permitted
transferee of the Shares-in-Trust, provided that the transferee (1) purchases such Shares-in-Trust for valuable consideration and (2) acquires such
Shares-in-Trust without such acquisition resulting in another automatic exchange of Equity Shares into Shares-in-Trust. Within 20 days after
receiving notice from the Company that Common Shares or other shares have been transferred to the Trust as Shares-in-Trust, the Company shall,
at its sole option (the “Option”) (A) repurchase such Shares-in-Trust from the Purported Record Transferee or Purported Record Holder (a
“Redemption”), or (B) cause the Trustee to sell the Shares-in-Trust on behalf of such Person to a third party (a “Sale”).
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(b) In the event of a Redemption or Sale, the Purported Record Transferee or Purported Record Holder shall receive a per share price equal
to the lesser of (1) the price per share in the transaction that created such Shares-in-Trust (or, in the case of a gift or devise, the Market Price per
share on the date of such Transfer) or (2) the Market Price per share on the date that the Company, or its designee, purchases such Shares-in-Trust,
provided that for sales by the Trustee, such price per share shall be net of any commissions and other expenses of the sale. The proceeds from a
Redemption or Sale shall be sent to such Person within five (5) Business Days after the closing of such sale transaction.

(c) In connection with the Option, all Shares-in-Trust will be deemed to have been offered for sale to the Company, or its designee, and the
Company will have the right to accept such offer for a period of twenty (20) days after the later of (1) the date of the purported Transfer which
resulted in such Shares-in-Trust or (2) the date the Company determines in good faith that a Transfer resulting in such Shares-in-Trust occurred.

(d) Any amounts received by the Trustee in excess of the amounts paid to the Purported Record Transferee shall be distributed to the
Beneficiary.

(vi) REMEDIES NOT LIMITED. Subject to Section 7.9, nothing contained in this Article VII shall limit the scope or application of the
provisions of this Section 7.8, the ability of the Company to implement or enforce compliance with the terms hereof or the authority of the Board of
Directors to take any such other action or actions as it may deem necessary or advisable to protect the Company and the interests of its Stockholders by
preservation of the Company’s status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with applicable Share Ownership Limits and the other restrictions set forth
herein, including, without limitation, refusal to give effect to a transaction on the books of the Company.

(vii) AUTHORIZATION. At such time as the Board of Directors authorizes a series of Preferred Shares pursuant to Section 7.3 of this Article VII,
without any further or separate action of the Board of Directors, there shall be deemed to be authorized a series of Shares-in-Trust consisting of the
number of shares included in the series of Preferred Shares so authorized and having terms, rights, restrictions and qualifications identical thereto,
except to the extent that such Shares-in-Trust are already authorized or this Article VII requires different terms.

SECTION 7.9 SETTLEMENTS. Nothing in Sections 7.7 and 7.8 shall preclude the settlement of any transaction with respect to the Common Shares
entered into through the facilities of the New York Stock Exchange or other national securities exchange on which the Common Shares are listed.

SECTION 7.10 SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Article VII or any application of any such provision is determined to be void, invalid or
unenforceable by any court having jurisdiction over the issue, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Article VII shall not be
affected and other applications of such provision shall be affected only to the extent necessary to comply with the determination of such court.

SECTION 7.11 WAIVER. The Company shall have authority at any time to waive the requirements that Shares-in-Trust be issued or be deemed
outstanding in accordance with the provisions of this Article VII if the Company determines, based on an opinion of nationally recognized tax counsel, that
the issuance of such Shares-in-Trust or the fact that such Shares-in-Trust are deemed to be outstanding, would jeopardize the status of the Company as a REIT
(as that term is defined in Section 1.5).

SECTION 7.12 REPURCHASE OF SHARES. The Board of Directors may establish, from time to time, a program or programs by which the Company
voluntarily repurchases Shares from its Stockholders, provided, however, that such repurchase does not impair the capital or operations of the Company. The
Directors or any Affiliates thereof may not receive any fees on the repurchase of Shares by the Company.

SECTION 7.13 DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLANS. The Board of Directors may establish, from time to time, a Distribution reinvestment plan
or plans (a “Reinvestment Plan”). Pursuant to such Reinvestment Plan, (i) all material information regarding the Distribution to the Stockholders and the
effect of reinvesting such Distribution, including the tax consequences thereof, shall be provided to the Stockholders at least annually, and (ii) each
Stockholder participating in such Reinvestment Plan shall have a reasonable opportunity to withdraw from the Reinvestment Plan at least annually after
receipt of the information required in clause (i) above.

ARTICLE VIII

STOCKHOLDERS

SECTION 8.1 MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS. There shall be an annual meeting of the Stockholders, to be held at such time and place as shall be
determined by or in the manner prescribed in the Bylaws, at which the Directors shall be elected and any other proper business may be conducted. The annual
meeting will be held on a date which is a reasonable period of time following the distribution of the Company’s annual report to Stockholders but not less
than thirty (30) days after delivery of such report. A majority of Stockholders present in person or by proxy at an annual meeting at which a quorum is
present, may, without the necessity for concurrence by the
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Directors, vote to elect the Directors. A quorum shall be the holders of 50% or more of the then outstanding Shares entitled to vote. Special meetings of
Stockholders may be called in the manner provided in the Bylaws, including by the president or by a majority of the Directors, and shall be called by an
officer of the Company upon written request of Stockholders holding in the aggregate not less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Equity Shares
entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at any such special meeting. Upon receipt of a written request, either in person or by mail, stating
the purpose(s) of the meeting, the Company shall provide all Stockholders within ten days after receipt of said request, written notice, either in person or by
mail, of a meeting and the purpose of such meeting to be held on a date not less than 15 nor more than 60 days after the distribution of such notice, at a time
and place specified in the request, or if none is specified, at a time and place convenient to the Stockholders. If there are no Directors, the officers of the
Company shall promptly call a special meeting of the Stockholders entitled to vote for the election of successor Directors. Any meeting may be adjourned
and reconvened as the Directors determine or as provided by the Bylaws.

SECTION 8.2 VOTING RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS. Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares then outstanding and the mandatory
provisions of any applicable laws or regulations, the Stockholders shall be entitled to vote only on the following matters; (i) election or removal of Directors,
without the necessity for concurrence by the Directors, as provided in Sections 8.1, 2.4 and 2.7 hereof; (ii) amendment of this Charter, without the necessity
for concurrence by the Directors, as provided in Section 10.1 hereof; (iii) termination of the Company, as provided in Section 11.2 hereof; (iv) reorganization
of the Company, as provided in Section 10.2 hereof; (v) merger, consolidation or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company Property,
as provided in Section 10.3 hereof; and (vi) termination of the Company’s status as a real estate investment trust under the REIT Provisions of the Code, as
provided in Section 3.2(xix) hereof. The Stockholders may terminate the status of the Company as a REIT under the Code by a vote of a majority of the
Shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Except with respect to the foregoing matters, no action taken by the Stockholders at any meeting shall in any way
bind the Directors.

SECTION 8.3 VOTING LIMITATIONS ON SHARES HELD BY THE DIRECTORS AND AFFILIATES. With respect to Shares owned by the Directors or
any of their Affiliates, neither the Directors, nor any of their Affiliates may vote or consent on matters submitted to the Stockholders regarding the removal of
the Directors or any of their Affiliates or any transaction between the Company and any of them. In determining the requisite percentage in interest of Shares
necessary to approve a matter on which the Directors and any of their Affiliates may not vote or consent, any Shares owned by any of them shall not be
included.

SECTION 8.4 STOCKHOLDER ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY MEETING. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Stockholders of the
Company must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of Stockholders of the Company and may not be effected by any consent in writing of
such Stockholders.

SECTION 8.5 RIGHT OF INSPECTION. Any Stockholder and any designated representative thereof shall be permitted access to all records of the
Company at all reasonable times, and may inspect and copy any of them for a reasonable charge. Inspection of the Company books and records by the office
or agency administering the securities laws of a jurisdiction shall be provided upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours.

SECTION 8.6 ACCESS TO STOCKHOLDER LIST. An alphabetical list of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the Stockholders of the
Company, along with the number of Shares held by each of them (the “Stockholder List”), shall be maintained as part of the books and records of the
Company and shall be available for inspection by any Stockholder or the Stockholder’s designated agent at the home office of the Company upon the
request of the Stockholder. The Stockholder List shall be updated at least quarterly to reflect changes in the information contained therein. A copy of such
list shall be mailed to any Stockholder so requesting within ten (10) days of the request. The copy of the Stockholder List shall be printed in alphabetical
order, on white paper, and in a readily readable type size (in no event smaller than 10-point type). The Company may impose a reasonable charge for
expenses incurred in reproduction pursuant to the Stockholder request. A Stockholder may request a copy of the Stockholder List in connection with matters
relating to Stockholders’ voting rights, and the exercise of Stockholder rights under federal proxy laws.

If the Directors neglect or refuse to exhibit, produce or mail a copy of'the Stockholder List as requested, the Directors shall be liable to any Stockholder
requesting the list for the costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by that Stockholder for compelling the production of the Stockholder List, and for actual
damages suffered by any Stockholder by reason of such refusal or neglect. It shall be a defense that the actual purpose and reason for the requests for
inspection or for a copy of the Stockholder List is to secure such list of Stockholders or other information for the purpose of selling such list or copies thereof,
or of using the same for a commercial purpose other than in the interest of the applicant as a Stockholder relative to the affairs of the Company. The Company
may require the Stockholder requesting the Stockholder List to represent that the list is not requested for a commercial purpose unrelated to the Stockholder’s
interest in the Company. The remedies provided hereunder to Stockholders requesting copies of the Stockholder List are in addition to, and shall not in any
way limit, other remedies available to Stockholders under federal law, or the laws of any state.

SECTION 8.7 REPORTS. The Directors, including the Independent Directors, shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the Company shall cause to be
prepared and mailed or delivered to each Stockholder as of a record date after the end of the fiscal year and each holder of other publicly held Securities of
the Company within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of the fiscal year to which it relates an annual report for each fiscal year ending after the
Initial Public Offering of its Securities which shall include: (i) financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
which are audited and reported on by independent certified public accountants; (ii) the ratio of the costs of raising capital during the period to the capital
raised; (iii) the Operating Expenses of the
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Company, stated as a percentage of Average Invested Assets and as a percentage of its Net Income; (iv) a report from the Independent Directors that the
policies being followed by the Company are in the best interests of its Stockholders and the basis for such determination; (v) separately stated, full disclosure
of all material terms, factors, and circumstances surrounding any and all transactions involving the Company and any Director or any Affiliate thereof
occurring in the year for which the annual report is made, and the Independent Directors shall be specifically charged with a duty to examine and comment in
the report on the fairness of such transactions; and (vi) Distributions to the Stockholders for the period, identifying the source of such Distributions, and if
such information is not available at the time of the Distribution, a written explanation of the relevant circumstances will accompany the Distributions (with
the statement as to the source of Distributions to be sent to Stockholders not later than sixty (60) days after the end ofthe fiscal year in which the Distribution
was made).

ARTICLE IX

LIABILITY OF STOCKHOLDERS, DIRECTORS AND AFFILIATES;
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN AFFILIATES AND THE COMPANY

SECTION 9.1 LIMITATION OF STOCKHOLDER LIABILITY. No Stockholder shall be liable for any debt, claim, demand, judgment or obligation of
any kind of, against or with respect to the Company by reason of his or her being a Stockholder, nor shall any Stockholder be subject to any personal liability
whatsoever, in tort, contract or otherwise, to any Person in connection with the Company Property or the affairs of the Company by reason of his or her being
a Stockholder.

SECTION 9.2 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION.

(i) The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless a Director or an officer of the Company (the “Indemnitee”) against any or all losses or
liabilities reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with or by reason of any act or omission performed or omitted to be performed on
behalf of the Company in such capacity, provided, that such Director or officer has determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct which caused
the loss or liability was in the best interests of the Company. The Company shall not indemnify or hold harmless the Indemnitee if: (a) in the case that
the Indemnitee is a Director (other than an Independent Director) or an officer, the loss or liability was the result of negligence or misconduct by the
Indemnitee, or (b) in the case that the Indemnitee is an Independent Director, the loss or liability was the result of gross negligence or willful
misconduct by the Indemnitee. Any indemnification of expenses or agreement to hold harmless may be paid only out of the Net Assets of the Company
and no portion may be recoverable from the Stockholders.

(i1) The Company shall not provide indemnification for any loss, liability or expense arising from or out of an alleged violation of federal or state
securities laws by such party unless one or more of the following conditions are met: (a) there has been a successful adjudication on the merits of each
count involving alleged securities law violations as to the Indemnitee, (b) such claims have been dismissed with prejudice on the merits by a court of
competent jurisdiction as to the Indemnitee; or (c) a court of competent jurisdiction approves a settlement of the claims against the Indemnitee and
finds that indemnification of the settlement and the related costs should be made, and the court considering the request for indemnification has been
advised of the position of the Securities and Exchange Commission and of the published position of any state securities regulatory authority in which
Securities of the Company were offered or sold as to indemnification for violations of securities laws.

(iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the provisions of subsection (i) and (ii) above of this Section, the Company shall not
indemnify or hold harmless an Indemnitee if it is established that: (a) the act or omission was material to the loss or liability and was committed in bad
faith or was the result of active or deliberate dishonesty, (b) the Indemnitee actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property, or
services, (¢) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful, or (d) in a
proceeding by or in the right of the Company, the Indemnitee shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Company.

(iv) The Directors may take such action as is necessary to carry out this Section 9.2 and are expressly empowered to adopt, approve and amend
from time to time the Bylaws, resolutions or contracts implementing such provisions; provided, that any such action shall be undertaken only upon the
prior approval of a majority of the Independent Directors. No amendment of this Charter or repeal of any of its provisions shall limit or eliminate the
right of indemnification provided hereunder with respect to acts or omissions occurring prior to such amendment or repeal.

SECTION 9.3 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES. The Company shall pay or reimburse reasonable legal expenses and other costs incurred by a Director or an
officer in advance of final disposition of a proceeding if all of the following are satisfied: (i) the proceeding relates to acts or omissions with respect to the
performance of duties or services on behalf of the Company, (ii) the Indemnitee provides the Company with written affirmation of his or her good faith belief
that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the Company as authorized by Section 9.2 hereof, (iii) the legal proceeding
was initiated by a third party who is not a Stockholder or, if by a Stockholder of the Company acting in his or her capacity as such, a court of competent
jurisdiction approves such advancement, and (iv) the Indemnitee provides the Company with a written agreement to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by
the Company, together with the applicable legal rate of interest thereon, if it is ultimately determined that the Indemnitee did not comply with the requisite
standard of conduct and is not entitled to indemnification. Any indemnification payment or reimbursement of expenses will be furnished in accordance with
the procedures in Section 2-418(e) of the MGCL.
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SECTION 9.4 EXPRESS EXCULPATORY CLAUSES IN INSTRUMENTS. Neither the Stockholders nor the Directors, officers, employees or agents of
the Company shall be liable under any written instrument creating an obligation of the Company by reason of their being Stockholders, Directors, officers,
employees or agents of the Company, and all Persons shall look solely to the Company Property for the payment of any claim under or for the performance of
that instrument. The omission of the foregoing exculpatory language from any instrument shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such instrument
and shall not render any Stockholder, Director, officer, employee or agent liable thereunder to any third party, nor shall the Directors or any officer, employee
or agent of the Company be liable to anyone as a result of such omission.

SECTION 9.5 TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES. The Company shall not engage in transactions with any Affiliates, except to the extent that each
such transaction has, after disclosure of such affiliation, been approved or ratified by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors (including a majority
of the Independent Directors) not Affiliated with the Person who is party to the transaction and:

(i) The transaction is fair and reasonable to the Company and its Stockholders.

(i1) The terms of such transaction are at least as favorable as the terms of any comparable transactions made on an arms-length basis and known to
the Directors.

(ii1) The total consideration is not in excess of the appraised value of the Property being acquired, if an acquisition is involved.
(iv) Payments to the Directors for services rendered in a capacity other than that as Director may only be made upon a determination that:
(a) The compensation is not in excess of their compensation paid for any comparable services; and

(b) The compensation is not greater than the charges for comparable services available from others who are competent and not Affiliated
with any of the parties involved.

(v) The Company will not make loans to any Director, officer or principal of the Company or any of their Affiliates.

Transactions between the Company and its Affiliates are further subject to any express restrictions in this Charter (including Sections 5.4 and 7.7) or
adopted by the Directors in the Bylaws or by resolution, and further subject to the disclosure and ratification requirements of Section 2-419 of the MGCL and
other applicable law.

ARTICLE X
AMENDMENT; REORGANIZATION; MERGER, ETC.
SECTION 10.1 AMENDMENT.

(i) The Company reserves the right from time to time to make any amendment to its Charter, now or hereafter authorized by law and in
accordance with applicable provisions of this Charter, including any amendment altering the terms of the contract rights, as expressly set forth in the
Charter, of any shares of outstanding stock. All rights and powers conferred by the Charter on Stockholders, Directors and officers are granted subject to
this reservation.

(i1) This Charter may be amended, without the necessity for concurrence by the Directors, by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a
majority of the Equity Shares then outstanding and entitled to vote thereon, except that: (1) no amendment may be made which would change any
rights with respect to any outstanding class of Securities, by reducing the amount payable thereon upon liquidation, or by diminishing or eliminating
any voting rights pertaining thereto; (2) Section 10.2 hereof and this Section 10.1 shall not be amended (or any other provision of this Charter be
amended or any provision of this Charter be added that would have the effect of amending such sections); (3) no term or provision of the Charter may
be added, amended or repealed in any respect that would, in the determination of the Board of Directors, cause the Company not to qualify as REIT
under the Code; (4) certain provisions of the Charter, including provisions relating to the removal of Directors, Independent Directors, preemptive
rights of holders of stock and indemnification and limitation of liability of officers and Directors may not be amended or repealed; and (5) provisions
imposing cumulative voting in the election of Directors may not be added to the Charter, without the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of
the Equity Shares then outstanding and entitled to vote thereon.

(ii1) The Directors, by a majority vote, may amend provisions of this Charter from time to time as necessary to enable the Company to qualify as a
real estate investment trust under the REIT Provisions of the Code. With the exception of the foregoing, the Directors may not amend this Charter.

(iv) An amendment to this Charter shall become effective as provided in Section 12.5.
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(v) This Charter may not be amended except as provided in this Section 10.1, and upon any such amendment of this Charter in accordance with
Section 10.1, holders of Equity Shares shall not be entitled to exercise any rights of an objecting stockholder provided for under Section 3-202 of the
MGCL, unless the Board of Directors, upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors, shall determine that such rights apply.

SECTION 10.2 REORGANIZATION. Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Equity Shares at the time outstanding, the Directors shall have
the power (i) to cause the organization of a corporation, association, trust or other organization to take over the Company Property and to carry on the affairs
of'the Company, or (ii) merge the Company into, or sell, convey and transfer the Company Property to any such corporation, association, trust or organization
in exchange for Securities thereof or beneficial interests therein, and the assumption by the transferee of the liabilities of the Company, and upon the
occurrence of (i) or (ii) above terminate the Company and deliver such Securities or beneficial interests ratably among the Stockholders according to the
respective rights of the class or series of Equity Shares held by them; provided, however, that any such action shall have been approved, at a meeting of the
Stockholders called for that purpose, by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a majority of the Equity Shares then outstanding and entitled to
vote thereon.

SECTION 10.3 MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR SALE OF COMPANY PROPERTY. Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Equity Shares
at the time outstanding, the Board of Directors shall have the power to (i) merge the Company with or into another entity, (ii) consolidate the Company with
one (1) or more other entities into a new entity; (iii) sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Company Property; or (iv) dissolve or liquidate
the Company; provided, however, that such action shall have been approved, at a meeting of the Stockholders called for that purpose, by the affirmative vote
of the holders of not less than a majority of the Equity Shares then outstanding and entitled to vote thereon. Any such transaction involving an Affiliate of
the Company also must be approved by a majority of the Directors (including a majority of the Independent Directors) not otherwise interested in such
transaction as fair and reasonable to the Company and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the Company than those available from unaffiliated third
parties.

In connection with any proposed Roll-Up Transaction, an appraisal of all Assets shall be obtained from a competent independent appraiser. The Assets
shall be appraised on a consistent basis, and the appraisal shall be based on the evaluation of all relevant information and shall indicate the value of the
Assets as of a date immediately prior to the announcement of the proposed Roll-Up Transaction. The appraisal shall assume an orderly liquidation of Assets
over a 12-month period. The terms of the engagement of the independent appraiser shall clearly state that the engagement is for the benefit of the Company
and the Stockholders. A summary of the appraisal, indicating all material assumptions underlying the appraisal, shall be included in a report to Stockholders
in connection with a proposed Roll-Up Transaction. In connection with a proposed Roll-Up Transaction, the Person sponsoring the Roll-Up Transaction shall
offer to Stockholders who vote against the proposed Roll-Up Transaction the choice of:

(i) accepting the Securities of a Roll-Up Entity offered in the proposed Roll-Up Transaction; or
(ii) one of the following:

(a) remaining as Stockholders of the Company and preserving their interests therein on the same terms and conditions as existed
previously; or

(b) receiving cash in an amount equal to the Stockholder’s pro rata share of the appraised value of the Net Assets of the Company.

The Company is prohibited from participating in any proposed Roll-Up Transaction:

(ii1) which would result in the Stockholders having democracy rights in a Roll-Up Entity that are less than the rights provided for in Sections 8.1,
8.2,8.4,8.5,8.6,8.7 and 9.1 of this Charter;

(iv) which includes provisions that would operate as a material impediment to, or frustration of, the accumulation of shares by any purchaser of
the Securities of the Roll-Up Entity (except to the minimum extent necessary to preserve the tax status of the Roll-Up Entity), or which would limit the
ability of an investor to exercise the voting rights of its Securities of the Roll-Up Entity on the basis of the number of Shares held by that investor;

(v) in which investor’s rights to access of records of the Roll-Up Entity will be less than those described in Sections 8.5 and 8.6 hereof; or
(vi) in which any of the costs of the Roll-Up Transaction would be borne by the Company if the Roll-Up Transaction is not approved by the
Stockholders.
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ARTICLE XI
DURATION OF COMPANY

SECTION 11.1 TERMINATION UPON FAILURE TO OBTAIN LISTING. In the event that Listing does not occur on or before the Determination Date,
the Company shall immediately thereafter undertake an orderly liquidation and Sale of the Company’s Assets and will distribute any Net Sales Proceeds
therefrom to Stockholders, following which the Company shall terminate and dissolve. In the event that Listing occurs on or before such date, the Company
shall continue perpetually unless dissolved pursuant to the provisions contained herein or pursuant to any applicable provision ofthe MGCL.

SECTION 11.2 DISSOLUTION OF THE COMPANY BY STOCKHOLDER VOTE. The Company may be terminated at any time, without the necessity
for concurrence by the Board of Directors, by the vote or written consent of a majority of the outstanding Equity Shares.

ARTICLE XII
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 12.1 GOVERNING LAW. This Charter is executed by the undersigned Directors and delivered in the State of Maryland with reference to the
laws thereof, and the rights of all parties and the validity, construction and effect of every provision hereof shall be subject to and construed according to the
laws of the State of Maryland without regard to conflicts of laws provisions thereof.

SECTION 12.2 RELIANCE BY THIRD PARTIES. Any certificate shall be final and conclusive as to any Persons dealing with the Company if executed
by an individual who, according to the records of the Company or of any recording office in which this Charter may be recorded, appears to be the Secretary
or an Assistant Secretary of the Company or a Director, and if certifying to: (i) the number or identity of Directors, officers of the Company or Stockholders;
(ii) the due authorization of the execution of any document; (iii) the action or vote taken, and the existence of a quorum, at a meeting of the Directors or
Stockholders; (iv) a copy of the Charter or of the Bylaws as a true and complete copy as then in force; (v) an amendment to this Charter; (vi) the dissolution of
the Companys; or (vii) the existence of any fact or facts which relate to the affairs of the Company. No purchaser, lender, transfer agent or other Person shall be
bound to make any inquiry concemning the validity of any transaction purporting to be made on behalf of the Company by the Directors or by any duly
authorized officer, employee or agent of the Company.

SECTION 12.3 PROVISIONS IN CONFLICT WITH LAW OR REGULATIONS.

(i) The provisions of this Charter are severable, and if the Board of Directors determines that any one or more of such provisions are in
conflict with the REIT Provisions of the Code, or other applicable federal or state laws, the conflicting provisions shall be deemed never to have
constituted a part of this Charter, even without any amendment of this Charter pursuant to Section 10.1 hereof; provided, however, that such
determination by the Board of Directors shall not affect or impair any of the remaining provisions of this Charter or render invalid or improper
any action taken or omitted prior to such determination. No Director shall be liable for making or failing to make such a determination.

(i1) If any provision of this Charter shall be held invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such holding shall not in any manner affect
or render invalid or unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction or any other provision of this Charter in any jurisdiction.

SECTION 12.4 CONSTRUCTION. In this Charter, unless the context otherwise requires, words used in the singular or in the plural include both the
plural and singular and words denoting any gender include both genders. The title and headings of different parts are inserted for convenience and shall not
affect the meaning, construction or effect of this Charter.

SECTION 12.5 RECORDATION. These Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement and any amendment hereto shall be filed for record with the
State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland and may also be filed or recorded in such other places as the Directors deem appropriate, but
failure to file for record this Charter or any amendment hereto in any office other than in the State of Maryland shall not affect or impair the validity or
effectiveness of this Charter or any amendment hereto. A restated Charter shall, upon filing, be conclusive evidence of all amendments contained therein and
may thereafter be referred to in lieu of the original Charter and the various amendments thereto.

THIRD: These Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement have been approved by a majority of the Board of Directors and approved by the
Stockholders of the Company as required by law.

FOURTH: The current address of the principal office of the Company in the State of Maryland and the name and address of the Company’s current
registered agent are as set forth in Section 1.2 ofthese Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement.

FIFTH: The number of Directors of the Company and the names of those Directors currently in office are as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 2.3 of these
Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement.

SIXTH: The total number of shares which the Company had authority to issue immediately prior to this amendment and restatement and has authority
to issue pursuant to the foregoing amendment and restatement is 1,000,000,000, consisting of 750,000,000 Common Shares, 100,000,000 Preferred Shares
and 150,000,000 Shares-in-Trust. The aggregate par value of all shares of stock having par value is $7,500,000.

SEVENTH: The undersigned President acknowledges these Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement to be the corporate act of the Company
and as to all matters or facts required to be verified under oath, the undersigned President acknowledges that, to the best of his knowledge, information and
belief, these matters and facts are true in all material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties for perjury.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused these Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement to be signed in its name and on its behalf by
its President, and attested by its Secretary, on this 17" day of April, 2007.

[SIGNATURES COMMENCE ON NEXT PAGE]
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PIEDMONT OFFICE REALTY TRUST, INC.

By: /s/ Donald A. Miller, CFA

Donald A. Miller, CFA
President

ATTEST:

By: /s/ Robert E. Bowers

Robert E. Bowers
Secretary
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EXHIBIT 31.1
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Donald A. Miller, CFA, certify that:

1.
2.

I'have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. for the quarter ended March 31, 2008;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting that are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: May 13,2008

By: /s/ Donald A. Miller, CFA
Donald A. Miller, CFA
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert E. Bowers, certify that:

1.
2.

I'have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. for the quarter ended March 31, 2008;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting that are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: May 13,2008

By: /s/ Robert E. Bowers
Robert E. Bowers
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice
President (Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

In connection with the Report of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), the undersigned, Donald A. Miller, CFA, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 02002, that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
By: /s/ Donald A. Miller, CFA
Donald A. Miller, CFA

Chief Executive Officer
May 13,2008




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

In connection with the Report of Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), the undersigned, Robert E. Bowers, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
By: /s/ Robert E. Bowers
Robert E. Bowers

Chief Financial Officer
May 13,2008
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